# MOLECULAR IDENTIFICATION OF VERTEBRATE SOURCES AND POTENTIAL ZOONOTIC PATHOGENS IN THE MEAT VALUE CHAIN FROM SELECTED VENDORS IN NAIROBI, KENYA.

# JANE KAGURE NJARAMBA

# I56/9506/2017

Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment for the award of the degree of

Master of Science in Genetics

School of Biological Sciences, College of Biological and Physical Sciences

UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI

October, 2020

# DECLARATION

This is to testify that this thesis is my original work and has not been presented for award of degree in any other University.

Jane Kagure Njaramba

Registration no: 156/9506/2017

₽ Date 07/10/2020 Signature .

This thesis has been submitted for examination with our approval as University of Nairobi supervisors.

Prof. Titus Mukiama

School of Biological Sciences

University of Nairobi Signed Jame Date 7/10/2020

Dr. Nelson Onzere Amugune

School of Biological Sciences

University of Nairobi

Signed. Thousere Date. 13/10/2020

Dr. Jandouwe Villinger

Molecular Biology and Bioinformatics Unit (MBBU)

International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology (icipe)

Jondene Velp

...... Date....7<sup>th</sup> October 2020...... Signed

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to convey my earnest gratitude to my University supervisors, Prof. Titus Mukiama and Dr. Nelson Amugune (University of Nairobi) for their continued guidance and valuable recommendations and feedback during the execution and writing of this thesis. Their readiness to spare their time to assist and direct me has been essential to the successful and timely conclusion of my thesis.

I am also grateful to my external supervisor, Dr. Jandouwe Villinger (*icipe*), whose support and direction has been critical in the completion of all necessary laboratory work and for the documentation of all findings, making this thesis a possibility.

My sincere thanks are extended to my mentor, Dr. Lillian Wambua, who provided this chance to partake of this project, ensuring the timely and successful completion of my thesis. She has been instrumental in the conception, execution and writing of this work.

My heartfelt appreciation also goes to the Gandhi Smarak Nithi Fund (GNSF), whose scholarship allowed me to pursue this MSc. Course at this prestigious University.

My thanks are also extended to my siblings, Laban, Sophy and Ruth, as well as my parents Patrick Wanjohi and Elmina Saru, for their moral and financial support during this academic journey, without which my studies would not have been possible. Additionally, I would like to extend my thanks to members of the Molecular Biology and Bioinformatics unit (*icipe*); including Mr. James Kabii, Peter Odhiambo and David Wainaina, and colleagues of the Martin Lüscher Emerging Infectious Diseases (ML-EID) lab including Joseph Oundo, Edward Makhulu and Daniel Ouso for their technical support and assistance.

Finally, I would like to thank God for the opportunity and for the strength, health and provision that enabled the completion of this thesis.

# **DEDICATION**

This work is dedicated to my mother Elmina Saru Mghalu, whose support and guidance have been instrumental in driving me towards academic excellence. May she live to see all her children do great things.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

MOLECULAR IDENTIFICATION OF VERTEBRATE SOURCES AND POTENTIAL ZOONOTIC PATHOGENS IN THE MEAT VALUE CHAIN FROM SELECTED VENDORS NAIROBI, KENYA
DECLARATIONi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSii
DEDICATION
LIST OF TABLESix
LIST OF FIGURESx
LIST OF APPENDICES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS xiii
ABSTRACTxv
CHAPTER ONE
1.0. INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background to the study1
1.2. Statement of the Problem
1.3 Justification
1.4 Research Objectives9
1.4.1 Overall Objective9
1.4.2 Specific objectives9
1.5 Hypothesis
CHAPTER TWO
2.0 REVIEW OF LITERATURE
2.1 Food fraud in the food value chain10
2.2. Food fraud in the meat industry11
2.3 Meat fraud and public health
2.4. Meat consumption
2.4.1 The meat value chain in Kenya15
2.4.2 Sources of meat in Kenya15
2.4.3 The Nairobi meat market16
2.5. Identification of vertebrate sources of meat17

2.5.1 Molecular identification	18
2.5.2. DNA barcoding markers	18
2.5.2.1. Cytochrome B	19
2.5.2.2. Vertebrate Cytochrome c Oxidase subunit 1	20
2.5.2.3. Vertebrate mitochondrial 16S subunit of ribosomal RNA gene	20
2.5.3. PCR - High Resolution Melting Analysis (HRMA)	21
2.6 Zoonotic pathogens linked to meat consumption	22
2.6.1 Brucella spp	23
2.6.2 Bacillus anthracis	25
2.6.3 Leptospira spp	27
2.6.4 Coxiella burnetti	29
CHAPTER THREE	31
3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS	31
3.1. Study Site	31
3.2 Sampling (Meat samples)	32
3.3 Molecular Identification of vertebrate sources of meat	33
3.3.1 DNA extraction protocols from meat	33
3.3.2 Normalization of extracted DNA	33
3.3.3 PCR-HRM for identification of vertebrate sources of meat	34
3.3.4 Confirmation of goat positive control samples	35
3.4 Experimental analysis of meat samples	36
3.4.1 Analysis of effect of different DNA extraction protocols	36
3.4.2 Application of various treatments to meat samples	
3.4.3 Analysis of species admixtures in the meat	38
3.5 PCR amplification and sequencing of vertebrate samples	
3.6 Detection of zoonotic bacterial pathogens in meat sold for human	
consumption	40
3.6.1 Meat samples	40
3.6.2 Design of synthetic constructs	40
3.6.3 Linearization of plasmid DNA controls	41
3.6.4 Detection of <i>Brucella</i> spp	42

3.6.5 Detection of pathogenic Leptospira spp	44
3.6.6 Detection of <i>Bacillus anthracis</i>	44
3.6.7 Detection of <i>Coxiella</i>	45
3.6.8 Universal 16S rRNA gene for detection of other bacteria	45
3.6.9 Sequencing of positive samples	46
3.7 Sequence Analysis	46
3.8 Statistical Analysis	47
CHAPTER FOUR	48
4.0 RESULTS	48
4.1 Molecular identification of meat samples	48
4.1.1 DNA Quantification	48
4.1.2 Identification of positive control for goat meat	49
4.1.3 HRM identification of meat sampled from butcheries in Nairobi	50
4.1.4 Species substitution in Nairobi	53
4.2 Experimental analysis of meat samples	54
4.2.1 Effect of different treatments on PCR-HRM profiles	54
4.2.2 Effect of different extraction protocols on PCR-HRM	57
4.2.3 Distinction of meat sources using PCR-HRM	59
4.3 Molecular screening of zoonotic bacterial pathogens	62
4.3.1 <i>Brucella</i> spp	62
4.3.2 Leptospira spp	63
4.3.3 Bacillus anthracis	64
4.3.4 Coxiella burnetti	65
4.3.5 Universal 16S rRNA gene pathogens	65
CHAPTER FIVE	69
5.0 DISCUSSION	69
5.1 Vertebrate species identification	69
5.2 Pathogens identified using molecular analysis.	73
5.3 The meat value chain	78
5.4. Conclusion and Recommendations	79

5.4.1 Conclusions	79
5.4.2 Recommendations	80
REFERENCES	81
APPENDICES	94

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Oligonucleotide primers used for vertebrate identification
Table 2: Primers used for the identification of bacterial zoonotic pathogens43
Table 3: Melting temperatures of single peaked profiles targeting CO1 marker55
Table 4: ANOVA test looking at effect of treatments applied on the meltingtemperature
Table 5: Changes in melting temperatures based on DNA extraction protocol   used   58
Table 6: ANOVA results of association between extraction protocol, species of
origin and the melting temperature

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Map of Nairobi showing meat sampling sites
Figure 2: Box plot showing DNA concentration obtained using different extraction protocols
Figure 3: CO1 melt profiles to determine goat samples
Figure 4: High-resolution melting analysis through comparing a) melt profiles and b) normalized curves of the known species targeting the gene cytochrome oxidase subunit 1
Figure 5: High-resolution melting analysis through comparing a) melt profiles and b) normalized curves of the known species targeting the gene cytochrome b52
Figure 6: High-resolution melting analysis through comparing a) melt profiles and b) normalized curves of the known species targeting the mitochondrial gene 16S rRNA
Figure 7: Stacked graph showing species substitution incidents in Nairobi meat value chain (November 2018)
Figure 8: Normalized fluorescence showing how the melting temperature of the CO1 region of the DNA samples was affected by the different treatments applied
Figure 9: Melt profiles of CO1 regions from DNA extracted from meat exposed to different treatments
Figure 10: Melt profile of the CO1 gene showing the shift in melting temperature of three species: camel, goat and sheep
Figure 11: Normalized curves of the CO1 region of three species (camel, goat and sheep) showing decrease in fluorescence with increase in temperature
Figure 12: Agarose gel image of mitochondrial 16S rRNA gene amplification of domestic and mixed meat samples using PCR
Figure 13: Melt rate profiles showing how cyt b distinguishes pure and mixed samples
Figure 14: High-resolution melting analysis of the mitochondrial 16S rRNA gene of pure and mixed meat samples
Figure 15: Melt profiles obtained during screening for <i>Brucella</i> 63

Figure 16: HRM profile targeting the SecYIV gene that is present in all pa Leptospira species	thogenic
Figure 17: PCR-HRM melt profiles for Bacillus anthracis screening. No were positive for the pathogen	samples
Figure 18a: Gel electrophoresis image of representative samples from Nai were screened for bacteria using the universal 16S rRNA primers	robi that 66

# LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Positive controls used for identification of vertebrate sources of meat
Appendix 2: BLAST results of bacteria identified using Universal 16S rRNA gene
Appendix 3: Samples that tested positive for <i>Brucella</i> spp96
Appendix 4: FASTA DNA sequences of selected vertebrate species97
Appendix 5: FASTA DNA sequences of selected pathogenic <i>Brucella</i> positive samples
Appendix 6: FASTA DNA sequence of pathogenic <i>Leptospira</i> positive sample
Appendix 7: FASTA DNA sequences of bacteria identified using Universal 16S rRNA primers
Appendix 8: Supplementary Figure showing normalized curves of pig samples using the mitochondrial markers CO1, Cyt b and 16S rRNA111

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ANOVA - Analysis of Variance

ASAL- Arid and semi-arid lands

**BLAST-** Basic Local Alignment Search Tool

BSE- Bovine Spongiform encephalopathy

CAAT- cross agglutination absorption test

CO1- Cytochrome oxidase subunit1

Cyt b- Cytochrome B

DEG- diethylene glycol

DNA- Deoxyribonucleic acid

EPZA- Export Processing Zonal Authority

EU- European Union

FAO- Food and Agriculture Organization

FBAT- febrile antigen Brucella agglutination test

GC content - guanine-cytosine content

GOK – Government of Kenya

HRM – High-resolution melting

HRMA- High-resolution melting analysis

ITS- internal transcribed spacer region

KEBS- Kenya Bureau of Standards

KNBS- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics

KShs- Kenya Shillings

KWS- Kenya Wildlife Services

LTM- Local terminal market

LPC- Large Processing Companies

MAT- Microscopic agglutination test

MM- meat markets

mtDNA- mitochondrial Deoxyribonucleic acid

NCBI- National Center for Biotechnology Information

NTC- Non- template control

PCR- Polymerase Chain Reaction

Q fever- query fever

RAPD- randomly amplified polymorphic DNA

RASFF- Rapid Alert System for Food and Feed

RFLP- restriction fragment length polymorphism

SMAC- sorbitol MacConkey agar culture

Tm- Melting temperature

UK- United Kingdom

USAID- United States Agency for International Development

USD- United States Dollars

vCJD- variant Creudzfeldt Jacob disease

WHO- World Health Organization

#### ABSTRACT

The steady increase in the utilization of meat products has led to a rise in demand as well as its market price. Substitution of meat from animal species of higher commercial value with those from cheaper or undesirable species occurs often, posing ethical, religious, and dietary concerns. In Nairobi and Naivasha, there have been reports of bushmeat and undeclared species sold to unsuspecting customers. The aim of the study was to identify the vertebrate sources of meat sold to consumers in Nairobi hence determining if there was any species substitution in the meat value chain; and also, to detect potential pathogens in the meat sold to consumers.

A total of 115 meat samples were obtained randomly from butcheries in Burma Market, Nairobi, and its surrounding areas. Additionally, seven goat samples were obtained from Kiamaiko as controls. Extraction of DNA from these samples was done using the ISOLATE II Genomic DNA extraction kit (Bioline, UK) and determination of species and bacterial screening carried out. Furthermore, ninetynine meat samples similarly obtained from Naivasha butcheries and stored at -80°C were also analyzed for presence of bacterial pathogens, making the total number of samples 221. Species identification was done using high-resolution melting (HRM) analysis of the PCR products. Three mitochondrial DNA markers, cytochrome oxidase subunit 1 (CO1), cytochrome b (cyt b), and 16S rRNA genes were targeted to identify vertebrate species. Presence of selected bacterial zoonotic pathogens was evaluated through analysis of HRM of PCR products targeting the genes *bcsp31*, secYIV, PL3 and IS1111 for Brucella spp., pathogenic Leptospira spp., Bacillus anthracis and Coxiella burnetii respectively. Additionally, sequencing of PCR amplified products using universal 16S rRNA was utilized to screen for more bacterial contaminants.

The study detected incidence of species substitution in the meat value chain, with 15/115 samples collected in Nairobi found to be substituted. Presence of zoonotic bacteria that pose a risk to individuals involved in the meat value chain was also detected with 27/221 of the samples being positive for pathogenic *Brucella*, and 1/221 of the samples being positive for *Leptospira interrogans*. None of the samples were positive for *Bacillus anthracis* or *Coxiella burnetii*. Using the universal 16S rRNA gene primers allowed the amplification of food-borne pathogens including *Lactococcus garvieae*, *Clostridium* spp. and *Aeromonas caviae* in 3% of the samples, where 7/221 samples were found to have bacteria that are enteropathogenic or enterotoxin producing. These findings reveal that there may be loopholes in the meat value chain that could place consumers at risk of allergic reactions due to undeclared meat species, and to public health because of the zoonotic and foodborne bacterial pathogens present. However, no correlation could be found between species substitution and pathogens.

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### **1.0. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Background to the study

Meat consumption has steadily risen because of the increasing demand for animal products such as meat in most parts of the world (Cawthorn *et al.*, 2013). This demand is mostly driven by the growth in population, elevation of incomes, urbanization, and changing consumer preferences (Delgado, 2003; Gamba, 2005). Based on research carried out by the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations, the global meat output stood at 336.4 million tonnes by the year 2018, a 1.2% increase from 2017 (FAO, 2019). This increase is also reflected in countries in sub-Saharan African like Kenya, where the recorded purchase and slaughter of livestock by licensed abattoirs between 2010 and 2016 rose with a collective count of over 2.6 million livestock (Kenya National Bureau of Statistics, 2018).

This growth in demand has in turn increased the total value of meat products. For instance, the value of products from cattle and calves grew from KShs 8,886.4 million to KShs 11,476.1 million between the years 1999 and 2003 (Export Processing Zonal Authority, 2005; Shibia *et al.*, 2017). Higher market value of meat and meat products makes this product more susceptible to food fraud (misrepresentation, adulteration with undesirables, and switching of species (Cawthorn *et al.*, 2013)). Meat adulteration carried out intentionally usually entails

the addition or substitution of animal proteins or meat with other cheaper or undesirable alternatives such as plant proteins (soya and gluten) (Spink & Moyer, 2011; Cawthorn *et al.*, 2013).

Although the incentive for food fraud is often financial or economic, its result is a tangible vulnerability to public health, because even if a public health event does not ensue, the adulteration or misrepresentation could create the likelihood for harm (Spink & Moyer, 2011). Owing to the different motivations driving food fraud, simple food safety methods may not be the most efficient at identifying and deterring it.

Food fraud instances have been described in many countries resulting in public health problems and even mortality (Bouzembrak *et al.*, 2018). In the past decade, food fraud has become a major threat in several countries due to the direct implications on public health as well as international livestock trade (Cartín-Rojas, 2018). It is estimated that in 2014, the global cost of fighting food fraud and adulteration was more than USD 79 billion.

The present age of food legislations started with the U.S. Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic (FD&C) Act in 1938 (Spink & Moyer, 2011). This law was put in effect due to the poisoning of numerous patients by medicine that had diethylene glycol (DEG). In the EU, the body of food law was developed to facilitate the production and sale of safe food (McEvoy, 2016).

In the horsemeat scandal that occurred in the UK and Ireland in 2013, the Rapid Alert System for Food and Feed (RASFF) was used for the interchange of pertinent data during this time, as well as to protect consumers (Bouzembrak et al., 2018). There was also an immediate implementation of traceability checks and an action plan by the European Commission to battle against food fraud. This was to reinforce the European Union system as well as to restore the confidence of consumers. Several countries are coming up with regulations and frameworks to tackle this problem. The enactment of the European Parliament Resolution of 2014 on Fraud in the Food Chain (Acutis et al., 2019) kick started frameworks to monitor such fraud in the regional and national level. These are being enforced to address the traceability and labeling of food products through general laws and regulations (Kets, 2016). Various reports already depict active monitoring of fraud in meat value chains. For instance, all of the member states of the EU are expected to convey the results of their inspection to the Commission every year, with the Commission publishing the overall report throughout the EU (McEvoy, 2016).

This move has been seen in Africa as well, with regulatory bodies, such as those in South Africa, publishing new regulations that encourage transparency as well as the appropriate description of food items (Cawthorn *et al.*, 2013). The Kenya Food and Drugs Authority Bill 2019 also prohibits the sale of unsafe, toxic, or adulterated food (Kenya National Assembly, 2019). The country has a monitoring system to control food safety, that spans various sectors and involves several Ministries as well as regulatory bodies. These bodies are mandated to carry out their tasks by legislation or Acts of Parliament e.g. Department of Public Health ensures consumer protection based on laws such as the Meat Control Act Cap 356 (Government of Kenya, 2012), Public Health Act Cap 242 (Rev. 2002) and the Food Drugs Chemical Substances Act Cap 254 (Rev 2002)

Such practices raise ethical, religious, dietary, and moral concerns where consumers end up buying meat from species they would not normally eat (Chuah *et al.*, 2016; Abbas *et al.*, 2018). The presence of undeclared animal species in the meat also raises food safety issues where it can be a health liability to those with allergies (Di Pinto *et al.*, 2015), as well as bring about public health risks, e.g. food-borne and zoonotic diseases in cases where the substituting species are obtained from unconventional sources such as bushmeat (wildlife), subjected to unhygienic handling, or may not have undergone quality checks such as meat inspection (Ouso et al., 2020).

Some common food-borne bacterial pathogens in Kenya that are zoonotic in nature include *Brucella* sp., *Bacillus anthracis*, pathogenic: *Leptospira* sp.; *Salmonella* sp., and enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. Livestock have large populations of microbiota, including fungi, archaea, bacteria and protozoa (Jami & Mizrahi, 2012), especially in their digestive tract. Several studies have disclosed the presence of pathogenic pathogens such as Brucella, Salmonella, Escherichia coli O157:H7, Campylobacter, and Listeria (Morales-Estrada *et al.*, 2016) in animal manure, which could be transmitted to other animals through direct contact, inhalation and

consumption of contaminated water. Although some of these pathogens could be transmitted from animals to humans through arthropods like ticks, stable flies, and lice (Wang *et al.*, 2018), they are also transferred to people through ingestion or direct contact with contaminated animal tissue. Such zoonotic diseases affect both wild animals and economically important domestic animals like cattle and small ruminants (Alexander *et al.*, 2012).

Although there are protocols put in place by legislation to ensure meat quality and protection of consumer health (Kenya Bureau of Standards, 2017), there are still reported incidences of species substitution in the country. This includes the economically motivated cases of cat and dog meat (Otieno, 2018) as well as game meat such as zebra and giraffe being found in major meat markets (Wa Maina, 2018). This poses a health risk as these animals are often acquired illegally or unethically and have not gone through inspection leading to the sale of contaminated meat (Garba *et al.*, 2013). Additionally, there have been fatalities in Kenya of individuals who ate infected meat and succumbed to bacterial and viral diseases like Rift-valley fever , brucellosis and anthrax (Munyua *et al.*, 2016). Such outbreaks affect not only the public health of our country, but also have a socio-economic impact and can cause great economic losses.

In light of the global trends that depict a steady increase in the demand for meat, monitoring food fraud in the meat supply chain is important, not just to protect consumers financially, but from possible contaminants that could pose a threat to their health. In this study, the novel technique, polymerase chain reaction followed by high-resolution melting analysis (PCR-HRM) was used to establish the occurrence of species substitution in the meat value chain in Nairobi, and screen for possible zoonotic pathogens in meat sold to consumers in both Nairobi and Naivasha.

### 1.2. Statement of the Problem

Meat species substitution, along with other forms of fraud in the supply of meat pose a risk to public health. This is especially true because the undeclared species are mainly obtained through irregular channels (McEvoy, 2016). For instance, in the horsemeat scandal of 2013 in the UK and Ireland, beef was substituted with horse meat (O'Mahony, 2013; Di Pinto *et al.*, 2015) and in the country of China, mutton was substituted with murine meat (Fang & Zhang, 2016) i.e. meat from mice and related rodents. Although rodents are considered delicacies in some parts of Kenya such as Kilifi (Lwanga & Atieno, 2019), there have been no recorded cases of these species being sold to unknowing customers. However, there is inadequate information concerning this phenomenon in the country's meat value chain.

This raises concerns of presence of zoonotic pathogens, or pharmacologically active substances or toxins that are a risk for public health. One such case was the link made between meat from animals affected by bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) and the incidence of the new fatal variant Creutzfeldt Jacob disease (vCJD), which was found in people in the European Union (McEvoy, 2016). According to

the World Health Organization (WHO), there were 224 recorded cases of vCJD globally, with 175 of these occurring in the UK between 1996 and 2011 (McEvoy, 2016). This was due to the consumption of beef from cattle that had acquired the causative agent through their own feed.

The problem in Kenya is that the vertebrate sources of illicit meats often found in urban markets are not confirmed. Research carried out by Alarcon *et al.*, 2017a, indicated that dead animals including cattle, sheep, pigs and goats are often sold in slums, and through slaughterhouses where vets lives are threatened. This exposes consumers to food safety risks such as exposure to the pathogens that led to animal mortality. Previous publications have shown animals such as camels to transmit brucellosis, Rift Valley Fever, *Coxiella burnetti*, Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever, among others. With increase in prolonged drought experienced in sub-Saharan Africa as well as diversifying of food sources, camels are gaining popularity for their products such as meat and milk (Zhu *et al.*, 2019). This could place individuals throughout the food chain at risk of infection or spill-over into epidemics.

Therefore, it is imperative to have increased measures put in place, not just the visual inspection in slaughter houses (Kenya Bureau of Standards, 2017), but also additional consistent monitoring to ensure the safety of consumers (McEvoy, 2016). Due to the laid-out regulations and guidelines detailing the process of meat inspection (GOK, 2012) and the reports of coercion (where the lives of vets are

threatened by farmers to ensure sale of dead animals through abattoirs (Alarcon *et al.*, 2017a)) a survey of meat inspection practices was considered too complex. However, determining the application of rapid and sensitive techniques such as PCR-HRM, to determine vertebrate species and detect bacterial contaminants would be advantageous in monitoring of the meat quality.

### **1.3 Justification**

The slaughter and supply of meat in Kenya is carried out by a network of individuals and organizations who are guided through the Meat Control Act, defined in Chapter 356 of the Laws of Kenya (GOK, 2012). This law requires that all animals to be slaughtered undergo ante- and post-mortem inspection by qualified meat inspection officers (GOK, 2012) before being sold for human consumption. The act also stipulates which animal species are permitted for human consumption, as well as the slaughter processes, which should be done humanely, under hygienic conditions in slaughter houses or slaughter slabs. It also regulates how meat should be stored, transported, and handled by vendors. The occurrence of undisclosed meat species (Barnes, 2018; Mutahi, 2017; Ureport, 2018) in the meat sold to consumers reveals a surveillance deficiency in this control system. This deficit could not only allow unapproved meat species such as bushmeat (Kimwele et al., 2012; Ouso et al., 2020), but could also introduce zoonotic pathogens into the food chain, that can cause millions of cases of sporadic illnesses, challenging outbreaks (Munyua et al., 2016) or chronic complications (Heredia & García, 2018).

The reports of the sale of bushmeat (Kimwele *et al.*, 2012; Ouso *et al.*, 2020) or even dead animals (Alarcon *et al.*, 2017a) raises the concern of public health safety as it creates a possible mode of entry of dangerous zoonoses into the food chain. The presence of bushmeat sold in the meat markets could also indicate a weakness in the enforcement of wildlife conservation efforts. Use of a novel high-resolution melting (HRM) analysis technique allows for quick and accurate distinction of vertebrate sources of meat. Furthermore, the survey of possible pathogens present in the meat could reveal if handling the meat available in the market puts humans at risk.

## **1.4 Research Objectives**

#### 1.4.1 Overall Objective

To investigate vertebrate meat sources sold in Nairobi and compare potential bacterial pathogens in the meat value chain Nairobi and Naivasha, Kenya.

#### 1.4.2 Specific objectives

- To identify vertebrate sources of meat sold for human consumption by vendors in Nairobi using PCR-HRM.
- To investigate presence of zoonotic bacterial pathogens including *Leptospira*, *Bacillus*, and *Brucella* species in meat sold for human consumption in Naivasha and Nairobi.

## 1.5 Hypothesis

i) There are cases of species substitution in the meat value chain in Nairobi.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### 2.0 REVIEW OF LITERATURE

#### 2.1 Food fraud in the food value chain

The fraudulent misrepresentation of food to consumers is a global phenomenon, especially with products of higher economic value such as virgin olive oil, Basmati rice, meat, and other products (Woolfe & Primrose, 2004; Silvis *et al.*, 2017). Currently, consumers are more conscious of the significance of food origin, ingredients, and labeling, which guides them when making purchases (Vlachos *et al.*, 2016). However, there are several ways that food products can be improperly described. These include: substitution of one ingredient by one of less economic value; sullying of food with a core ingredient; for instance, water, non-declaration of a process used in the making of the food product, and over-declaring the quantity of an ingredient (Woolfe & Primrose, 2004).

This kind of fraudulent activity has taken place since antiquity, as illustrated by evidence of regulations in times of ancient Rome concerning the adulteration of wine by adding colouring agents, sweeteners or watering it down (Handford *et al.*, 2016). Several high-value products including Basmati rice (which is valued for its taste and distinctive aroma), premium varieties of tuna, virgin olive oil, milk (Handford *et al.*, 2016), vegetables (Woolfe & Primrose, 2004; Panghal *et al.*, 2018), spices (Silvis *et al.*, 2017), as well as meat (Fang & Zhang, 2016; Nešić *et al.*, 2017; Rastogi *et al.*, 2007) have been subjected to substitution.

Food fraud has grown as a concern in global trade, not only as a crime against consumer rights, but also because of the inherent risks posed to human health. This is especially due to the insertion of any other food component that could be unsafe to the health of consumers, e.g. toxic compounds, potential allergens, or those that may be problematic for the diets of some consumers (Di Pinto *et al.*, 2015).

Animal products are extremely vulnerable to food fraud and adulteration due to various reasons. One is that they have high economic value, hence tampering or adulteration would be highly profitable. Post-slaughter processing changes their characteristic taste, texture, colour or flavor making it hard to discern any substitutions. Additionally, they are sources of essential iron and proteins which makes them a food type that is highly sought after by consumers (Cartín-Rojas, 2018).

#### 2.2. Food fraud in the meat industry

Meat contains high amounts of biologically relevant proteins and is a vital food for human beings (Cetin *et al.*, 2016; Rahmati *et al.*, 2016). The consumption of meat goods has been driven up by the growth in population, urbanization, elevation in income, and changing consumer preferences (Delgado, 2003; Gamba, 2005). Modern manufacturing techniques have also increased the consumption of meat (Cetin *et al.*, 2016). According to research carried out by the FAO, the output of meat world-wide stood at 336.4 million tonnes by the year 2018, which was a 1.2% increase from 2017 (FAO, 2019). This increased demand has also caused the rise in meat market value (Cawthorn *et al.*, 2013), which has led to economically motivated fraud (Spink & Moyer, 2011).

Although many countries have made legislative regulations concerning how meat products are labeled for the protection of consumers (Ren *et al.*, 2017), post-slaughter processing may make meat indistinguishable (Perestam *et al.*, 2017). This increases the opportunity for species mislabeling since processing techniques and conditions could alter the texture, colour, and flavor of meat. Meat obtained from different species often has dissimilar prices. Consumer preferences will also direct the purchasing trends. In addition to economic reasons, lifestyle preferences such as vegetarianism, religious and moral reasons (Cai *et al.*, 2017) as well as health reasons, such as allergic reactions to certain animal proteins will be key in the consumers decision to purchase the product (Di Pinto *et al.*, 2015; Cai *et al.*, 2017).

Major fraudulent activities in the meat industry include: replacing the species, breeds or tissues with different animal species; falsifying the animal feeding routine or meat origin; alterations in the processing procedures; or the addition of ingredients other than meat such as water (Abbas *et al.*, 2018). Although this is a financial crime against the consumers, there is a risk of the spread of zoonoses to those handling and consuming the meat.

## 2.3 Meat fraud and public health

Undeclared meat species may pose public health safety risks, such as foodborne and zoonotic diseases, since the substituting species utilized may not have undergone quality checks like meat inspection, may have been acquired from unconventional sources such as wildlife (bushmeat), or may have been subjected to unhygienic handling (Spink & Moyer, 2011; Ouso *et al.*, 2020).

In general, food-producing mammals like cattle, camels, goats, and sheep are major reservoirs of many food-borne pathogens such as *Listeria monocytogenes*, *Escherichia coli*, non-*Typhi* serotypes of *Salmonella enterica*, *Brucella* species (Probert *et al.*, 2004), pathogenic *Leptospira* (Jobbins & Alexander, 2015), and *Bacillus anthracis* among many more (Heredia & García, 2018; Omer *et al.*, 2018).

The zoonotic nature of these pathogens, together with their capability to release toxins and cause diseases or mortality, makes preventing their transmission of vital importance (Heredia & García, 2018). They can cause disease through contact with or ingesting of contaminated products of animal origin, including meat, milk, eggs, etc. (Jobbins & Alexander, 2015; Heredia & García, 2018). This contamination can occur from animal handling such as slaughtering and processing exercises or environmental causes like water from different sources and associated fauna.

Although the meat value chain has several meat hygiene protocols to ensure the quality of meat being sold, those who choose to defraud their consumers may opt to by-pass some measures, which could lead to the existence of these zoonotic microbes in the food chain, and thus exposure of consumers.

#### 2.4. Meat consumption

In Africa, the consumption of meat is predicted to surge from 5.5 million tonnes (metric) in 1997 to 13.3 million tonnes in 2025 (Bett *et al.*, 2012). Like many African countries located in sub-Sahara, the supply of animal products in Kenya has steadily grown since the early 1900s (Cornelsen *et al.*, 2016). This is especially due to the growing population size and urbanization. According to the FAO, consumption of beef in Kenya is projected to grow from 467 thousand tonnes to 1277 thousand tonnes between 2010 and 2050 (FAO; USAID, 2017), with consumption of the other animal products also increasing over the years.

The demand for meat is affected by several factors such as income levels, prices, and even health considerations (Gamba, 2005). Generally, families that have a higher income tend to eat more meat than those at a lower tercile (Gamba, 2005; Alarcon *et al.*, 2017a; Alarcon *et al.*, 2017b), making meat a luxury product whose use increases with increase in revenue.

The consumption of meat in Kenya is mostly urban and stratified according to income, with the middle class being the highest consumers (Farmer & Mbwika, 2012). In urban areas, most of the meat purchased is in the form of a) boiled, roasted or grilled (*nyama choma*), or fried meat consumed at the point of sale or b) raw

meat bought in butcheries or supermarkets to be cooked at home (Farmer & Mbwika, 2012; Alarcon *et al.*, 2017b).

#### 2.4.1 The meat value chain in Kenya

More than 80% of all the meat consumed locally is made up of red-meat sources including cattle, sheep, goat, and camel meat (EPZA, 2005; Juma *et al.*, 2010). White meat, mainly poultry and pork, consist of 19% of meat sold on the Kenyan market. Close to sixty-seven percent of the red meat comes from arid and semi-arid lands (ASALs) whereas ranches and sustenance farmers produce some of the meat consumed in the country (EPZA, 2005). Some meat is also imported from neighboring countries (Bergevoet & Van Engelen, 2014) such as Tanzania, Ethiopia, and Somalia (Farmer & Mbwika, 2012).

The meat- producing animals are taken to licensed slaughterhouses where they are then inspected and slaughtered for sale, processing, or export. Later, the meat is transported to abattoirs, supermarkets, local butchers, or hotels (Farmer & Mbwika, 2012). However, recent incidences of meat adulteration (Barnes, 2018; Mutahi, 2017; Ureport, 2018; Ouso *et al.*, 2020) indicate that this stipulated chain is not always followed.

## 2.4.2 Sources of meat in Kenya

Official slaughters make up two-thirds of meat processed in the country, while the rest accounts for the amount that is slaughtered informally (in backyards and/or not formally inspected) (Farmer & Mbwika, 2012). The contribution of game meat,

such as zebra, and other meats, such as dog and cat meat, are negligible, amounting to less than 1% of the total meat consumed in the country (EPZA, 2005). This is especially true because consumption of bushmeat is prohibited by law (GOK, 2012).

### 2.4.3 The Nairobi meat market

In Kenya, Nairobi city is a major center for the consumption of meat obtained from ruminants, making up 14% of the national consumption (Alarcon, *et al.*, 2017b), with an average beef consumption of 19.1 kg per capita in 2014. As Kenya's population rises to the predicted 97.2 million by 2050, a majority of this growth in consumption is expected to be concentrated around the urban centers such as Nairobi, hence increasing the demand for food items (Alarcon *et al.*, 2017a).

The Nairobi meat market is made up of three major food segment categories, large processing companies (LPCs), meat markets (MMs) including Shauri Moyo (Burma) Market and City Market, and local terminal markets (LTMs) such as Kiserian, Njiru, Kiamaiko, and Dagoretti markets (Alarcon *et al.*, 2017b). There are two large processing companies, which are concerned with the value of meat expected, as they depend on specific standards for beef cattle traded. Meat that goes through these companies is sold to high-end markets.

In the LTMs, live animals are sold, most of which are slaughtered and traded. Meat markets mostly involve the movement of these animal products and make up to two-thirds of the beef provided to Nairobi (Alarcon *et al.*, 2017b). Kiamaiko is the major market of sheep and goats, slaughtering between 5,000 and 10,000 ruminants per

week. Dagoretti handles a majority of the live animals, i.e. slaughtering 1,200-1,600 cattle per week (Alarcon *et al.*, 2017b). These two major markets are leading in the supply of small ruminants and beef, especially because of their discounted meat prices. The large market share they hold makes these markets vulnerable to prohibited activities and risks to food safety (Nairobi City County Assembly, 2014).

The demand for products from cattle, sheep and goat is projected to be double the current demand by 2030, hence posing a great challenge of supply to the region. The structure of the meat value chain, as well as the presence of both formal and informal channels for the supply of meat, makes determining the quality of meat sold to consumers of great importance.

#### 2.5. Identification of vertebrate sources of meat

Verifying the identity of the vertebrate animal species from whom meat and meat products originate is critical because of the legal, medical cultural ,economic, and religious aspects it raises (Sakaridis *et al.*, 2013; Farag *et al.*, 2015). To help people determine this, various techniques including histological, anatomical, microscopic and chemical methods such as immunological, electrophoretic and chromatographic techniques have been used for identification of species (Sakaridis *et al.*, 2013; Montowska & Spychaj, 2018). Unfortunately, techniques which rely on protein expression patterns such as using agar gel diffusion and immuno-electrophoresis are not reliable in cases where the meat has been cooked (Rastogi *et al.*, 2007; Rahmati *et al.*, 2016). Methods which depend on analysis of nucleic acid,

specifically DNA, especially those relying on PCR (polymerase chain reaction) are acknowledged as the best approaches for identifying species in processed and raw meat (Farag *et al.*, 2015).

## 2.5.1 Molecular identification

Techniques used in PCR, for instance; restriction fragment length polymorphism (PCR-RFLP), randomly amplified polymorphic DNA (PCR-RAPD), PCR using species-specific primers, real-time PCR, and PCR followed by nucleotide sequencing, enable the distinction of animal sources of meat that have undergone processing conditions (Girish *et al.*, 2013; Farag *et al.*, 2015). A major reason why RAPDS are not used in such analysis, despite being faster and cheaper than most DNA-based methods is that the results found are hard to reproduce (Rastogi *et al.*, 2007).

There have been major endeavors to standardize the approaches used in identification of species through molecular analysis hence making it possible to characterize very many species using similar genetic markers (Lorenz *et al.*, 2005). This resulted in the creation of DNA barcoding, which is a molecular system used globally for identification of living beings. This technique has proven its universality and efficacy in various contexts (Galimberti *et al.*, 2015).

#### 2.5.2. DNA barcoding markers

Barcoding of DNA is a technique that relies on the use of mitochondrial DNA. DNA from this organelle is favored over nuclear DNA because 1) mitochondrial DNA can

be utilized to generate universal primers that can distinguish a large number of species, and 2) it can be used even if found in minute or trace samples such as hair, (Tobe *et al.*, 2009). Barcoding primers are used to amplify a part of the gene of interest which is then compared with a sequence which is known (or entries in a database) to confirm the identity of the organism (Tobe *et al.*, 2009). Cytochrome Oxidase subunit 1, Cytochrome B and mitochondrial 16S rRNA gene, which is involved in the synthesis of mitochondrial ribosomes, are common mitochondrial markers used in mammalian characterization (Nicolas *et al.*, 2012; Ouso *et al.*,2020; Yang *et al.*, 2018). Other regions which have also been used in barcoding animal species include the nuclear ribosomal internal transcribed spacer (ITS) and the 12S ribosomal RNA (12S rRNA) gene (Yang *et al.*, 2018). DNA barcoding is often used in forensics to investigate trafficking of live specimens, poaching or hunting out of season as well as species substitution in food products (Galimberti *et al.*, 2015).

#### 2.5.2.1. Cytochrome B

The Cytochrome B (Cyt b) gene, is utilized as a valuable marker in forensic identifications. This is due to this genes ability to reliably differentiate species as well as in reconstructing the mammalian phylogeny (Nicolas *et al.*, 2012). Assays targeting this gene usually amplify only a section (usually about 400 bp) of the 1149 bp gene. Additionally, this gene has the useful attribute of being variable in different species but having the same size within species (Tobe *et al.*, 2009). This made it ideal for the identification of the vertebrate sources of meat from the samples obtained.

## 2.5.2.2. Vertebrate Cytochrome c Oxidase subunit 1

The Cytochrome c Oxidase subunit 1 (CO1) is another gene found in the mitochondria. It has been shown to be useful and dependable in classification of organisms and even serves as the backbone of a biological identification system for animals used globally (Hebert *et al.*, 2003). This gene is considered more dependable over the other mitochondrial markers, such as mitochondrial 16S rRNA gene and Cyt b, due to a few features ; one characteristic is that it has a wider array of phylogenetic differentiation than the other mitochondrial genes (Hebert *et al.*, 2003). It also has very active universal primers that allow for the recovery of its 5' end from individuals of approximately all phyla of animals (Hebert *et al.*, 2003). This would also prove useful in the analysis of meat samples.

#### 2.5.2.3. Vertebrate mitochondrial 16S subunit of ribosomal RNA gene

The mitochondrial 16S subunit of ribosomal RNA (16S rRNA) gene is approximately 1500 bps in length and codes for a section of RNA that has enzymatic activity and is one of the components of the 30S ribosomal subunit (Srinivasan *et al.*, 2015). This gene, that codes for mitochondrial ribosomes, allows for species differentiation due to an accelerated evolutionary rate which brings about variations in the sequences. The functional constancy of this gene, and its availability in most living things, makes it a reliable marker and a reliable tool for phylogenetic testing (Srinivasan *et al.*, 2015). Using these three mitochondrial genes simultaneously in an analysis and identification of vertebrate sources can improve the species resolution to allow differentiation between closely related species.
# 2.5.3. PCR - High Resolution Melting Analysis (HRMA)

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is a molecular method that has been used for various applications, including the authentication of food composition (Spychaj *et al.*, 2009). After the amplification of the DNA of interest using PCR, various techniques such as PCR-RFLP and PCR-RAPD can be applied for the detection of the animal meat source (Farag *et al.*, 2015). HRMA is a novel post-PCR technique for DNA analysis that examines genetic discrepancy in DNA sequences based on their dissociation curves (Applied Biosystems, 2009) which are determined by various elements such as the variations in GC content and the length of the amplicon.

Since this technique was introduced in 2002 (Reed *et al.*, 2007), it has increased in popularity because of the availability and accessibility of double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) intercalating dyes together with modern real-time PCR equipment and analysis software (Applied Biosystems, 2009). The melting curve is generated when the amplicon, which contains an intercalating dye is heated over a span of temperatures, followed by measurement of its fluorescence. Due to the nature of the intercalating dye, the DNA will fluoresce brightly at lower temperatures but this fluorescence will decrease as the temperature is increased and the strands dissociate (Reed *et al.*, 2007). The difference in the length ,GC content and sequences of the DNA of different species allows the use of HRM Analysis for efficient discrimination of species (Applied Biosystems, 2009; Reed *et al.*, 2007). This technique has been applied effectively in the establishment of the identity of vertebrate species or blood meal hosts of insect vectors (Peña *et al.*, 2012; Ogola *et* 

*al.*, 2017) and in the identification of bushmeat (Ouso et al., 2020). High resolution melting analysis has also proved useful in the investigation of food fraud (Sakaridis *et al.*, 2013; Lopez-Oceja *et al.*, 2017)

# 2.6 Zoonotic pathogens linked to meat consumption

Zoonoses are those diseases that can be transferred from animals to humans directly, through contact, consumption or through vectors (Cantas & Suer, 2014). Harmful microbes of zoonotic origin make up at least two-thirds of all infectious agents that are transferrable to humans, many of which cause newly emerging infections (Munyua *et al.*, 2016; Asante *et al.*, 2019). These include bacteria, viruses, parasites, and fungi. They present a key threat to public health constituting the majority of the infectious disease burden in low-income countries (Asante *et al.*, 2019). Annually, approximately 2.5 billion cases are reported globally, resulting in 2.7 million deaths (Asante *et al.*, 2019; Grace *et al.*, 2012).

Animals have been linked as vehicles of several food-borne pathogens, including *Brucella*, *Leptospira*, *Bacillus anthracis*, *Salmonella*, *Campylobacter*, and toxigenic *Escherichia coli* among many more (Heredia & García, 2018). The Zoonotic Diseases Unit, set up in Kenya by the Ministry of Livestock Development and Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation, listed several of these diseases as zoonoses of high significance in the country (Munyua *et al.*, 2016).

# 2.6.1 Brucella spp.

Brucellosis, the group of zoonoses transmitted through bacteria of the genus *Brucella* (Ducrotoy *et al.*, 2017), is known to be a major infectious disease that affects various mammalian species such as humans (El-Sayed & Awad, 2018). Brucellae can pass through all mucous membranes as well as intact or injured skin, hence can occur through several pathways. In domestic animals, infection happens through consumption of water or food contaminated by fetuses that have been aborted or fetal membranes, uterine discharges or as a result of licking the genitalia of infected animals. The infected males transmit the pathogens to the females when mating or even through artificial insemination (El-Sayed & Awad, 2018). It is also known that transmission can occur through mechanical means such as by arthropods like ticks (Wang *et al.*, 2018), and possibly *Stomoxys* stable flies (Baldacchino *et al.*, 2013).

Humans mainly acquire this disease through indirect or direct contact with infected animals or contaminated food items originating from animals. Brucellosis is a very diverse disease that mainly appears as malaise, myalgia and fever, that could eventually escalate into a chronic infection that affects many tissues and organs (Probert *et al.*, 2004). Due to the nature of this illness, it is often misdiagnosed as malaria or other febrile illnesses. Based on a study carried out by FAO, it was determined that in Kenya, there were 255,000 confirmed cases of human brucellosis between 2012 and 2016, which is probably less than the actual number of infections due to misdiagnosis (FAO; USAID, 2017). The causative agents for human brucellosis have been determined to include *B. abortus*, *B. suis*, *B. melintesis*, *B. canis*, and some strains that bear a resemblance to *Brucella* found in marine mammals (Probert *et al.*, 2004).

The gold standard for detection of *Brucella* species in the laboratory has been based mainly on culture isolation as well as phenotypic characterization (Probert *et al.*, 2004). For clinical diagnosis in humans, several agglutination tests, for instance those that rely on serum agglutination that uses cell suspensions of whole smooth *Brucella* as antigens, have been favored in the East African region. A major example is the febrile antigen Brucella agglutination test (FBAT) (de Glanville *et al.*, 2017). However, research by de Glanville *et al.* (2017), indicates that these tests are not always reliable, with false positives being reported.

In other sources such as vector bloodmeals, detection of *Brucella* DNA has been carried out using PCR assays that target various genes specific to this genus. One such targeted gene is the outer membrane protein gene 22 (omp22), together with the IS711 gene. The omp22 gene allows for the selection of all *Brucella* species as it is found in the entire genus, whereas the IS711 gene allows for the distinction of different *Brucella* species because of its varying locations in the genome (Wang *et al.*, 2018). Other genes that have been targeted for detection of *Brucella* include 16S rRNA, omp2, the 16S-23S intergenic spacer region, and bcsp31 (*Brucella* cell surface salt extractable gene). Bcsp31, which encodes a 31-kDa antigen that is conserved among *Brucella* spp., is the most common gene utilized for the diagnosis

of human brucellosis using PCR assays (Probert *et al.*, 2004). The use of this more sensitive target, bcsp31, allowed for the successful detection of this pathogen.

# 2.6.2 Bacillus anthracis

*Bacillus anthracis*, which is the microbial agent that causes anthrax, is a zoonotic bacterial pathogen known to cause disease which could lead to death in animals and people (Ågren *et al.*, 2013). This pathogen is in the *Bacillus cereus* family, which has mesophilic members which are genetically closely related including *B. anthracis*, *B. cereus*, and *B. thuringiensis*, as well as some psychro-tolerant members: *Bacillus mycoides* and *B. weihenstephanensis* (Wielinga *et al.*, 2011). The members of this family are found globally and produce spores that are extremely resistant to various forms of stress, for instance, drought, enabling them to survive in varying environmental surroundings (Wielinga *et al.*, 2011). *Bacillus anthracis* is one of the most feared micro-organisms because of its life threatening effect on both animals and humans, as well as its potential use in bioterrorism (Ågren *et al.*, 2013).

The main virulence factors for *B. anthracis* are positioned on two mega plasmids, pXO1 and pXO2, which when both present in strains, cause severe disease, and even mortality in both animals and humans (Wielinga *et al.*, 2011). The pXO1 plasmid confers toxin production, whereas pXO2 confers capsule synthesis properties to the bacteria (Ågren *et al.*, 2013). One vital challenge in developing an assay that would specifically detect *B. anthracis* is the high similarity it shares with other strains in the same genus (Ågren *et al.*, 2013). The major distinction between the distinct

species in the genus is the presence of distinctive plasmids that give virulence. However, it has also been brought to light that some *B. cereus* strains also contain anthrax-specific pXO-like plasmids (Ågren *et al.*, 2013).

Although positive identification of anthrax has been done using techniques such as immunohistochemical staining (Levine *et al.*, 2002), PCR-based protocols, especially real-time PCR, are being preferred. This is due to its closed system, which decreases the possibility for contamination and laboratory-exposure infections (Levine *et al.*, 2002).

Over 300 PCR-target sequences have been reported in previous work targeting *B*. *anthracis*, with various chromosomal targets being investigated, as well as plasmid targets. However, most chromosomal markers used were later determined to be shared by *B*. *anthracis* and a subset of very closely related *B*. *thuringensis* and *B*. *cereus*. That made these assays prone to false positives as these other species would be perfect matches (Ågren *et al.*, 2013).

The techniques that have been successfully employed require both chromosomal markers and plasmid-encoded targets to differentiate between apathogenic and pathogenic strains. The markers that have been determined to give the best discrimination include the chromosomal marker that targets the prophage known as lambdaBa03 (PL3), which is found in all *B. anthracis* strains (Wielinga *et al.*, 2011), a signal sequence of another chromosomal gene, *rpoB* (Levine *et al.*, 2002), and a

marker that targets the region coding for the *capB* gene located on the plasmid pXO2 (Levine *et al.*, 2002; Wielinga *et al.*, 2011).

# 2.6.3 Leptospira spp.

Some bacteria from the genus *Leptospira* are pathogenic, causing the zoonotic disease leptospirosis, through both direct and indirect transmission from animals to humans (Ahmed *et al.*, 2009). Although leptospirosis occurs globally, with an estimated 500,000 severe cases, it is most frequent in subtropical and tropical areas which experience high rainfall. While cases of mild leptospirosis are unknown, it is thought to be higher than the number of severe cases, indicating that the actual prevalence of the disease is underestimated (Ahmed *et al.*, 2009). This underestimation can be attributed to the symptoms of the disease, which are many times, mistook for other illnesses that are epidemic or endemic in the same environmental regions, such as enteric fevers, dengue, influenza, meningitis, rickettsiosis, and malaria (Musso & La Scola, 2013). Unlike many zoonoses, leptospirosis can be treated easily using antibiotics if diagnosis is made before the 5<sup>th</sup> day after disease onset (Ahmed *et al.*, 2009).

Various animals, including mammals are sources of these bacteria, with rodents being the main reservoirs (Musso & La Scola, 2013). *Leptospira* are normally localized in the kidneys and renal system of the infected mammals, especially in chronic infections. It can be transferred to humans through indirect or direct exchange with the urine or tissues of animals that are infected, where the bacteria

goes through cuts or abrasions, or through the conjunctiva (Musso & La Scola, 2013). This contact can occur during the slaughtering processes and handling of infected tissues.

The major approaches for detection and classification of *Leptospira* rely on serology, with the genus being divided into over 300 serovars, which are further grouped into close to 30 serogroups, which are both saprophytic and pathogenic (Guernier *et al.*, 2018). The microscopic agglutination test (MAT) is one of the current major diagnostic tests, often used as the gold standard (Ahmed *et al.*, 2009). Another serological test commonly used is the cross agglutination absorption test (CAAT) (Guernier *et al.*, 2018). However, serological tests usually only confirm the disease when it has reached a later, acute phase because the anti-*Leptospira* antibodies can usually only be detected five to seven days after the onset of the illness (Ahmed *et al.*, 2009).

The use of faster techniques for diagnosis, such as the detection of DNA from pathogenic *Leptospira* present in tissues like blood, using PCR techniques is being embraced (Ahmed *et al.*, 2009). Several genes have been targeted for PCR amplification of these pathogens. The gene that has been determined to be most discriminating is the *secYIV* gene, which is a housekeeping gene present within many prokaryotic species (Ahmed *et al.*, 2009).

# 2.6.4 Coxiella burnetti

This is a small, obligate gram-negative bacterium, known to be the etiological agent of the zoonotic disease Q fever (Selim *et al.*, 2018). It has a small, circular chromosome, roughly 5 Mbps in size and may also contain one of four plasmids which are 32-51 kb in size and carry around 2% of its genomes information (Angelakis & Raoult, 2010). It is known to infect vertebrates, including humans and is of great public health importance (Ndeereh *et al.*, 2017). This pathogen can be transmitted through inhalation of the urine or placental fluids of infected animals (Angelakis & Raoult, 2010) or consumption of unpasteurized milk or contaminated meat (Cantas & Suer, 2014). They can also be transmitted through arthropod vectors such as ticks.

Although most animals infected with Q fever remain asymptomatic, this pathogen can be found in the animal tissues such as lungs, blood, and liver during the phase of infection which is acute. When the infection becomes chronic, the bacterium is continually shed in urine, feaces, and sometimes in milk (Ndeereh *et al.*, 2017). Infection in humans manifests as atypical pneumonia, influenza-like symptoms, and/ or hepatitis with impulsive recovery in the critical stage (Selim *et al.*, 2018). In its chronic manifestation, it may present as endocarditis, especially in immunocompromised individuals (Angelakis & Raoult, 2010). It can also lead to spontaneous abortion in women (Ndeereh *et al.*, 2017).

Various analytical techniques, including isolation through cell culture, immunodetection, and serology can be utilized for the diagnosis of Q fever (Angelakis & Raoult, 2010). However, molecular methods such as real-time PCRs, conventional and nested are being used for early diagnosis of chronic Q fever (Angelakis & Raoult, 2010). The gene targeted for amplification is the repetitive element IS1111, due to its high specificity and sensitivity. Although it has been determined that the same repeat in *Coxiella*-like endosymbionts can be maternally inherited by ticks (Duron, 2015), it is still commonly used to screen for *Coxiella burnetti*.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

#### **3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 3.1. Study Site

The study was carried out in the central region of Nairobi county, within Kamukunji, Starehe, Mathare and Makadara constituencies. Nairobi is the capital city of Kenya, with its population reported at almost 4.4 million, during the national population and housing census in 2019 (KNBS, 2019). This population is expected to increase as the country's population reaches the projected 97.2 million by 2050 (Alarcon *et al.*, 2017b).

The Shauri Moyo meat market, also known as Burma market, was the main target. This was due to reports of the sale of bushmeat misrepresented as legal meat (Kiage 2019; Gitonga 2019; Kimuyu 2019), as well as its frequent closure by the Nairobi City Government because of lack of compliance to quality standards. The sampling extended to the suburbs located around this major meat market.

Archived meat samples obtained from Naivasha subcounty, Nakuru county were identified by Ouso *et al.*, 2020. This included meat covertly obtained from butcheries located in the towns Kinamba, Kambi Somali, Gilgil, Kambi Daraja, Kabati town, Kasarani, Mirera Elementaita Kongoni, Kikopey and Langalanga. Sub-samples had then been stored at -80°C for downstream analysis. This site was selected due to its vicinity to various game parks and reports of the illegal sale of bushmeat. Species identified were already published in a previous study (Ouso *et*  *al.*, 2020). Screening for specific bacterial pathogens would be carried out on these samples.



Figure 1: Image showing the meat sampling sites in Nairobi.

# **3.2** Sampling (Meat samples)

A total of 115 meat samples were purchased in November 2018, from randomly selected stalls in Burma Market and butcheries located around it. This involved targeting stalls within Burma market as well as establishments located in the suburbs of Eastleigh, Kariokor, Kaloleni, Mukuru Village, Mathare, Jerusalem, Jericho, City Stadium, Ngara, and Makongeni. The butcheries in this area mostly sold beef exclusively. However, to get chevron and pork, butcheries that also sold these

species were targeted. The desired species was declared during purchase. The meat species of interest were the animals most commonly bought by households, including: 61 cattle samples; 30 goat samples; 3 camel samples; 9 pig samples; 4 chicken samples; 4 tilapia samples and 4 Nile perch samples. Each 250 g sample was re-wrapped separately in aluminum foil to prevent cross-contamination. They were then transported in cooler boxes with ice-packs to the lab for later sub-sampling. The samples were then sub-sampled into two replicates of 1-2 g, with care taken to use sterile blades and fresh gloves per sample. All archived samples were stored in 1.8-mL cryovials at -80 °C, to prevent growth of microbiota, until DNA extraction.

# **3.3 Molecular Identification of vertebrate sources of meat**

#### **3.3.1 DNA extraction protocols from meat**

Initially, 50 mg of each meat sub-sample was thawed and genomic DNA extracted using the ISOLATE II Genomic DNA Extraction kit (Bioline, UK) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

# 3.3.2 Normalization of extracted DNA

After elution, the nucleic acid concentration of samples extracted using different protocols was determined using the NanoDrop 2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts). Thereafter, the DNA concentration of each sample was normalized to  $\sim 10 \text{ ng/µl}$  by further eluting calculated

concentrations of DNA with the appropriate elution buffers based on the extraction protocol used. Quality of extracted DNA was also assessed on 0.8% agarose gel.

#### 3.3.3 PCR-HRM for identification of vertebrate sources of meat

All the 115 meat samples obtained from the meat markets were analyzed by polymerase chain reaction coupled with high-resolution melting analysis (PCR-HRM) to determine the vertebrate species. Genetic markers targeting sections of mitochondrial cytochrome b (Cyt b), Cytochrome oxidase subunit 1 (CO1) and vertebrate 16S rRNA gene (Ouso et al., 2020; Ogola et al., 2017; Omondi et al., 2015) were used in DNA amplification of the different sources of meat (Table 1). This involved carrying out 10-µl PCR reactions comprising of 2 µl of 5X HOT FIREPol® EvaGreen® HRM Mix no ROX (Solis BioDyne, Tartu, Estonia), 0.5 µM of both forward and reverse primers (Omondi et al., 2015; Ogola et al., 2017), 2 µl of DNA template and topped up with nuclease free water. The PCR reactions were carried out in a RotorGene Q thermocycler (Qiagen, Germany) beginning with PCR amplification immediately followed by high-resolution melting. Each run included non-template controls, known positive control samples (Appendix 1) as well as the unknown samples for identification. The PCR conditions used were provided in previous work (Ouso et al., 2020). This included an initial denaturation step at 95°C for 15 minutes followed by 40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 20 seconds, annealing at 56°C for 20 seconds followed by an extension step at 72°C for 30 seconds. This cycle was followed by a final extension step of  $72^{\circ}$ C for 5 minutes before proceeding to the melt stage. Here, the amplicons were steadily melted from 75°C to 95°C at gradual 0.1 °C increments with fluorescence recorded every 2 seconds. This generated graphs of fluorescence against temperature.

 Table 1: Oligonucleotide primers used for vertebrate identification

Target gene	Primer	Primer sequence (5'-3')	Target size	Citation	
	name		(bp)		
CO1	VFId_t1	TCTCAACCAACCACAARGAYATYGG	750	(Ivanova <i>et al.</i> ,2012)	
	VRId_t1	TAGACTTCTGGGTGGCCRAARAAYCA			
	New Uni- Minibar-F1	TCCACTAATCACAARGATATTGGTAC	205	(Lee <i>et al.</i> , 2015; Meusnier <i>et al.</i> , 2008)	
	Ronping_R	TATCAGGGGCTCCGATTAT			
Vertebrate 16S	Vert16S For	GAGAAGACCCTRTGGARCTT	200	(Omondi et al, 2015)	
	Vert16S Rev	CGCTGTTATCCCTAGGGTA			
Cytochrome b	Cyt b For	CCCCTCAGAATGATATTTGTCCTCA	383	(Boakye at al., 1999)	
	Cyt b Rev	CATCCAACATCTCAGCATGATGAAA			

# 3.3.4 Confirmation of goat positive control samples

The positive controls used as references for meat source identification were archived samples that had been positively identified during collection of the tissue samples (morphologically), as well as through sequencing (Appendices 1 and 4). However, in the selection of positive controls for the goat samples there was a slight challenge brought about by mislabeling of the archived samples. The samples labeled 'Goat Meat' (GM) and 'Goat Meat B' (GMB) were both believed to belong to the species *Capra hircus*. Amplification products targeting the Cyt b marker were cleaned using the ExoSAP-IT protocol (USB Corporation, Cleveland, OH) and sent to Macrogen, Europe for Sanger sequencing.

For confirmatory identification of goat samples, specimen were collected from Kiamaiko area of Kariobangi estate, which is a main abattoir for sheep and goats being sold to residents of Nairobi (Juma *et al.*, 2010). Here, small sections of goat ears were taken from seven goats, for use in confirming the actual HRM profile of goat species. The DNA from these tissues was extracted using the ISOLATE II Genomic DNA kit (Bioline, UK) and PCR-HRM analysis carried out using these seven as the positives and GM and GMB as the unknowns.

Additionally, PCR using the primers that target the long barcoding region of the CO1 gene was carried out for molecular identification. The PCR products were then cleaned as described previously and sent for sequencing.

#### **3.4** Experimental analysis of meat samples

#### 3.4.1 Analysis of effect of different DNA extraction protocols

To study the impact of four different extraction protocols in species identification using PCR-HRM, a subset of nine meat samples: two cattle; four goats; one sheep as well as two camels was subjected to four DNA extraction protocols. Briefly, each sample was cut into four pieces, each about 50 mg. The first replicate was extracted using the ISOLATE II Genomic DNA kit (Bioline, UK) and the second using the DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit protocol (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). The third replicate was extracted using a lab optimized protocol described by Kipanga *et al.*, 2014. Briefly, this method included using a cell lysis buffer, together with 25  $\mu$ l of proteinase K for the breakdown of 50 mg of meat tissue. After incubation at 65 °C for two hours, protein precipitation was carried out using a salt; ammonium acetate, and incubation in ice for 15 minutes. This was followed by centrifugation at maximum speed for 15 minutes. The supernatant was pipetted into fresh sterile 1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes. After this, 300  $\mu$ l of isopropanol was added to the tubes, and the tubes inverted 100 times to ensure adequate mixing before centrifugation for 1 hour. The resulting supernatant was discarded and 300  $\mu$ l of ice-cold 70% ethanol added to the tubes; followed by mixing through inversion of the tubes and centrifugation for 30 minutes. The ethanol was then discarded and the tubes left inverted to dry overnight. Finally, 50  $\mu$ l of nuclease-free water was added to the tubes and the DNA eluted at 65 °C for 1 hour.

The fourth replicate was extracted using a modified version of the aforementioned protocol, where proteinase K was not added during the cell-lysis step. The centrifuge used for all extractions was a 5417R Eppendorf centrifuge (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany).

The extracted DNA was then analyzed using PCR-HRM of CO1, Cyt b, and mitochondrial 16S rRNA gene as described above. Standardized DNA samples, extracted using the protocols described above were compared to check for any change in melt temperature or profile. The marker CO1 was selected for use in this comparison. For ease of analysis, six single-peak profiles; obtained from two camel and three goat samples were assessed.

# 3.4.2 Application of various treatments to meat samples

Meat samples were selected from archived samples obtained from Naivasha region (Ouso *et al.*, 2020) - three from each of cow (*Bos taurus*), goat (*Capra hircus*), sheep (*Ovis aries*), pig (*Sus scrofa domesticus*), as well as known chicken (*Gallus gallus domesticus*) and camel (*Camelus dromedarius*) samples, and exposed to four different treatments. This was to determine the effect of different treatments to the melt profile. Each meat sample was cut into four pieces, each about 250 mg. The first piece was placed in an oven at 65°C for 2 hours, the second piece was cooked in a microwave oven for 12 minutes whereas the third batch was placed on the lab bench and left to decompose for 72 hours. The fourth piece was used as the control, where no treatment was applied. Total DNA was extracted from the samples using the ISOLATE II Genomic DNA kit (Bioline, UK) and analysis carried out using PCR-HRM. The markers used for the analysis were the CO1, mitochondrial 16S rRNA gene and Cyt b genes.

#### 3.4.3 Analysis of species admixtures in the meat

To determine whether PCR-HRM could be used successfully to identify meat adulteration in commonly sold processed meat, six meat mixtures were made. The mixtures prepared included: cattle + sheep; sheep + goat; cattle + goat; cattle + camel; chicken + pork; and chicken +Nile perch. About 50 mg from each species was placed into their respective tubes and extraction carried out using the ISOLATE II Genomic DNA kit (Bioline, UK). Each mixture and subsequent extraction were carried out in triplicate. Conventional PCR as well as PCR-HRM analysis of the mixed and pure domestic samples targeting the three mitochondrial genes 16S rRNA, CO1, and Cyt b were carried out to determine the most efficient marker in investigating meat species adulteration.

# 3.5 PCR amplification and sequencing of vertebrate samples.

For confirmation of vertebrate origin of samples, the DNA was amplified using primers that target a longer segment (750 bp), the barcoding region of the CO1 gene. This involved amplification with conventional PCR using 15- $\mu$ l reaction volumes consisting of 3  $\mu$ l of 5X HOT FIREPol® Blend Master Mix ®, 0.5  $\mu$ M of both forward and reverse primers and topped up with 9  $\mu$ l of PCR-ready water. The cycling conditions are similar to those described in Ouso *et al.*, 2020 and included the first denaturation step of 95°C for 15 minutes, then 40 cycles of 95°C for 20 seconds, annealing at 57°C for 30 seconds, and extension at 72°C for 1 minute per cycle. This was immediately followed by the final extension of 72°C for 7 minutes (Ouso et al., 2020). Five microliters of the amplicons were then analyzed using gel electrophoresis for confirmation of amplification before cleaning of the remaining volume using the ExoSAP-IT protocol (USB Corporation, Cleveland, OH). The cleaned product was then sent to Macrogen, Europe for Sanger sequencing.

# **3.6** Detection of zoonotic bacterial pathogens in meat sold for human consumption

#### 3.6.1 Meat samples

The samples obtained from Nairobi that were screened for bacteria included the 115 samples obtained from Burma market and its surroundings and the seven goat ears obtained from Kiamaiko as positive controls. The ear tips were sliced from morphologically identifiable goats and stored in a 50mL falcon tube, which was placed in an ice cooler. This was important as they would be used as controls to positively identify or exclude unknown samples for detection of speciessubstitution. The ears were then cleaned with water and  $\sim 5$  mm<sup>3</sup> of the inner muscle cut off using sterile forceps and a scalpel. The inner muscle was selected to exclude skin microbiota. DNA was extracted from these samples using the ISOLATE II Genomic DNA extraction protocol. For comparison, DNA from 99 archived samples obtained from Naivasha area; including Kambi Somali, Gilgil, Kinamba, Kasarani, Kabati town, Mirera Elementaita and Langalanga (Ouso et al., 2020) were extracted using the commercially available DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). All the samples analyzed were archived at -80°C immediately after sampling to prevent the growth of microbiota, therefore no fresh samples were used. In total,221 samples were screened for zoonotic pathogens.

#### 3.6.2 Design of synthetic constructs

Synthetic constructs that would act as positive controls for PCR screening of the zoonotic bacterial pathogens *Brucella* spp., *Bacillus anthracis* and pathogenic

*Leptospira* spp. were designed by aligning at least ten sequences of the target genes per pathogen and creating a consensus sequence. The publicly accessible sequences were obtained from GenBank and the consensus sequence sent to GenScript® (New Jersey, USA) where they were synthesized and packaged in pUC57 plasmids for DNA delivery.

The 193-bp construct used for the detection of *Brucella* would anneal to primers targeting the *bcsp31* gene, (GenBank accession number M20404) (Probert *et al.*, 2004) whereas the one used as a control for detection of pathogenic *Leptospira* would be a 245-bp sequence that anneals to primers targeting *SecYIV* gene (GenBank accession number AF115283) (Ahmed *et al.*, 2009). For the species-specific detection of all *Bacillus anthracis* strains, we selected the 181-bp construct that anneals to primers targeting the *PL3* gene (GenBank accession number AE017334) (Wielinga *et al.*, 2011).

#### 3.6.3 Linearization of plasmid DNA controls

To allow use of the plasmid DNA as positive controls, the protocol provided by Genscript<sup>®</sup> was used to linearize them. In summary, they were first centrifuged at 6000 x g for 1 minute at 4°C. The vial was then opened and 20  $\mu$ l of sterile water was added to dissolve the DNA. The vial was then closed and vortexed for 1 minute before being incubated at 50°C for 15 minutes to dissolve the DNA. After this, standard PCR was carried out on each using the specific primers and PCR conditions

for the gene targets. The PCR was carried out in 50-µl reactions. The amplicons were then each serially diluted 1:10 five times in water.

# 3.6.4 Detection of *Brucella* spp.

A *Brucella* genus-specific single-plex PCR-HRM assay targeting a 151-bp section of the gene *bcsp31*, was used. This was done in 10-µl reaction volumes consisting of 2 ul of 5X HOT FIREPol® EvaGreen® HRM Mix no ROX (Solis BioDyne, Estonia), 6 µl of nuclease free water, 0.5 µl of both forward and reverse primers (Table 2) and 1 µl of the DNA template. Each run included non-template controls as well as the linearized, diluted synthetic positive control for *bcsp31*. The cycling conditions had been described in earlier work (Probert *et al.*, 2004) were as follows: Initial denaturation at 95°C for 15 minutes, then 45 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds and a combined annealing and extension step at 57°C for 1 minute. This was followed by a final extension at 72°C, and finally, the amplicons were gradually melted from 75°C to 95°C at 0.1 °C increments and the fluorescence recorded every 2 seconds. This step results in graphs showing HRM and fluorescence melt rates against change in temperature.

Pathogen	Target gene	Primer name	Primer sequence (5'-3')	Target size (bp)	citation	
Pan-Brucella	Brucella bcsp31	BCSP31- brucella-F	GCTCGGTTGCCAATATCAATGC	151	(Probert et al., 2004)	
		BCSP31- brucella-R	GGGTAAAGCGTCGCCAGAAG			
Pathogenic Leptospira sp.	SecYIV	cYIV SecYIV- Lepto-F GCGATTCAGTTTAATCCTGC		~220	(Al-Kahtan <i>et al.</i> , 2017; Ahmed <i>et al.</i> , 2009)	
		SecYIV- Lepto-R	GAGTTAGAGCTCAAATCTAAG			
Bacillus anthracis	PL3	PL3- Anthrax-F	AAAGCTACAAACTCTGAAATT TGTAAATTG	139	(Wielinga <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Ågren <i>et al.</i> , 2013)	
		PL3- Anthrax-R	CAACGATGATTGGAGATAGAG TATTCTTT			
Coxiella burnetti	IS1111	IS1111 F	GCTCCTCCACACGCTTCCAT		(Tokarz et al., 2009)	
		IS1111R	GGTTCAACTGTGTGGGAATTGAT GAGT			
General bacterial 16S	16 S rDNA	Ehr/Ana- 27F	AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG	~1350 bp	(Fredriksson <i>et al.</i> , 2013; Srinivasan <i>et al.</i> , 2015)	
		Ehr/Ana- 1492R	GGTTACCTTGTTACGACTT		2013)	

# Table 2: Primers used for the identification of bacterial zoonotic pathogens

# 3.6.5 Detection of pathogenic *Leptospira* spp.

PCR-HRM targeting the *SecYIV* gene which is present in all pathogenic *Leptospira* species was used to determine if any of the meat samples had this pathogen. The PCR was carried out in 10-µl reaction volumes with 1 µl DNA template as described previously, with primers shown in Table 2, using the described cycling conditions (Ahmed *et al.*, 2009) as follows: Initial denaturation at 95°C for 15 minutes, 40 cycles of 95°C for 5 seconds, annealing at 54°C for 5 seconds and extension at 72°C for 15 seconds, a final extension step at 72°C for 5 minutes followed by two hold steps, 95°C for 2 minutes and then 25°C for 1 minute. This was directly followed by the melt step as was described above. Each run included non-template controls as well as the linearized and serial-diluted synthetic construct of the *SecYIV* gene as the positive control.

# 3.6.6 Detection of Bacillus anthracis

To screen for presence of *Bacillus anthracis*, both conventional PCR and PCR followed by high-resolution melting was used. These techniques target a 139-bp segment of the chromosomal marker *PL3* present on all *B. anthracis* strains. PCR reaction volumes of 10-µl were used with 1 µl DNA template as described above. The cycling conditions used had been described in earlier work (Wielinga *et al.*, 2011; Ågren *et al.*, 2013) and included an initial denaturation step of 95°C for 15 minutes, followed by 30 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 57°C for 30 seconds and an extension step of 72°C for 30 seconds. This was immediately

followed by a final extension at 72°C for 7 minutes before the melt stage. Each run also included the non-template control as well as the pre-amplified and diluted pl3 synthetic construct as the positive control.

# 3.6.7 Detection of Coxiella

To determine if *Coxiella burnetti*, the causative agent for Q fever was present in the meat samples, PCR-HRM targeting the specific insertion gene *IS1111* was carried out. Each run was a 10-µl reaction volume containing 2 µl of the 5X HOT FIREPol® EvaGreen® HRM Mix no ROX, 0.5 µM of both forward and reverse primers, 2 µl of the DNA template and topped up with PCR water (Tokarz *et al.*, 2009). This was carried out in a touch-down PCR described in (Ndeereh *et al.*, 2017).

# 3.6.8 Universal 16S rRNA gene for detection of other bacteria

To investigate the presence of other pathogenic bacteria that may be present in the meat samples, a set of general primers targeting the 16S rRNA gene of bacteria was used. The sole way used for detection using these primers was conventional PCR followed by gel-electrophoresis due to the large expected size of the amplicon, ~1350 bp. This involved 15-µl PCR reactions consisting of 3 µl of 5X HOT FIREPol® Blend Master Mix® (Solis BioDyne, Estonia), 0.25 µl of both forward and reverse primer at 10 pmol/µl s, 2 µl of DNA template and topped up with nuclease free water as described in previous studies (Fredriksson *et al.*, 2013; Srinivasan *et al.*, 2015). The cycling conditions for these runs included the initial denaturation at 95°C for 15 minutes followed by 35 cycles of 95°C for 20 seconds,

annealing at 58.3°C for 30 seconds and annealing at 72°C for 1 minute. This was followed by the final extension of 72°C for 7 minutes. The amplified products were electrophoresed in a runVIEW gel tank (Cleaver Scientific, United Kingdom) at 125V for 30 minutes in 1.5% agarose gel made of 1XTAE buffer (40mM Tris Base; 20mM Acetic Acid; 1mM EDTA). This involved dissolving 1.5 g of agar in 100ml of TAE buffer and addition of ethidium bromide before casting the gel. For 5  $\mu$ l of each sample, 2  $\mu$ l of loading buffer was added before loading them into individual wells. Visualization was done using GenoPlex (VWR International, Leicestershire, United Kingdom). To confirm that only the intended target was amplified, a 100-bp ladder (Solis BioDyne, Estonia) was used to confirm amplicon size.

# 3.6.9 Sequencing of positive samples

Samples that were successfully amplified using the pan- or specific primers were cleaned using the ExoSAP-IT protocol (USB Corporation, Cleveland, OH) and the cleaned product was sent to Macrogen, Europe for Sanger sequencing.

#### **3.7 Sequence Analysis**

All the sequences were trimmed and analyzed using Geneious v 11.1.5 software, available from Biomatters (Kearse *et al.*, 2012). The sequences were then queried against the NCBI GenBank database using BLAST parameters, as well as the BOLD (<u>http://www.boldsystems.org/</u>) database for vertebrate identification. The GenBank database was also used for the identification of bacterial sequences. Multiple

sequence alignments for bacterial sequences were carried out using Clustal Omega (EMBL-EBI).

# **3.8 Statistical Analysis**

Data analysis was carried out to determine if the results obtained relating the treatments applied to the melting temperatures observed had any statistical significance. The relationship between the extraction protocols and melting temperatures was also examined. Both of these relationships were determined using two-way ANOVA. All the statistical analysis was carried out using RStudio v 1.1.453 in conjunction with the R console v 3.5.0. To carry out some summary statistics, the libraries 'ggpubr' and 'dplyr'' were used. The function aov () was used to carry out the analysis of variance.

# **CHAPTER FOUR**

### 4.0 RESULTS

# 4.1 Molecular identification of meat samples

#### **4.1.1 DNA Quantification**

DNA was successfully extracted from all the 221 samples. However, the range of DNA concentration was different based on the extraction protocol used. Those extracted using the kits had a lower concentration than those using the lab-optimized protocol afore-mentioned. Based on the data of 9 samples extracted using each of the four protocols in section 3.4.1, the following was determined: The DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit protocol (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) and the ISOLATE II Genomic DNA Extraction kit (Bioline, UK) had a lower yield, with an average of 39.46 ng/  $\mu$ l and 37.06 ng/  $\mu$ l respectively. The lab optimized protocol had a high yield of 297.74 ng/  $\mu$ l while using the same protocol without adding proteinase K in the cell-lysis yielded a slightly lower average DNA concentration of 251.45 ng/  $\mu$ l (Figure 2).



**Figure 2:** Box plot showing DNA concentration obtained using different extraction protocols

Key: IsolateII- ISOLATE II Genomic DNA kit (Bioline, UK), JHK- lab-optimized protocol, JHK/P- lab-optimized protocol without proteinase K, Qiagen-DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit protocol (Qiagen, Valencia, CA).

# **4.1.2 Identification of positive control for goat meat**

Initial analysis of the melt profiles produced by amplifying DNA from the samples labeled Goat Meat (GM) and Goat Meat B (GMB) showed varying melting temperatures and peaks. A look at the profiles produced targeting the marker CO1, GM had two peaks, whereas GMB had a single peak. The difference was seen in the other markers, Cyt b and mitochondrial 16S rRNA. This brought the need for sequencing of both amplicons to determine the true goat sample for use in our analysis. Analysis of the HRM profiles produced by the seven known goat samples allowed for the confirmation of 'Goat Meat B' as *Capra hircus* (goat) as well as excluded the sample labelled 'Goat Meat' (Figure 3). Additionally, the Sanger sequencing carried out on both samples positively identified GM as originating from *Ovis aries* (sheep), and confirmed GMB as goat (Appendix 4) hence providing positive controls that could be used for further analysis.



**Figure 3:** Cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 melt profiles to determine goat samples. Key: GM – 'Goat Meat'; GMB- 'Goat Meat B'

# 4.1.3 HRM identification of meat sampled from butcheries in Nairobi

Through PCR-HRM analysis of the three genetic markers, CO1 (Figure 4), Cyt b (Figure 5) and mitochondrial 16S rRNA (Figure 6), as well as confirmation by sequencing of the long CO1 marker, 15/115 of the samples (13.04%) were determined to have been misrepresented (Figure 7).

The identification of the unknown samples was done through comparison of the high-resolution melting curves they generated against the curves produced by the reference samples; known positive controls. Each gene produced varying curves that allowed the distinction of species as indicated in the figures below. The curves produced by CO1 allowed the easiest distinction between species (Figure 4). This was followed by Cyt b, where although the curves were closer together, there was still clear delineation between species. However, using the mitochondrial 16S rRNA gene alone would have made distinguishing some of the species e.g. pig and camel, difficult.



**Figure 4:** High-resolution melting analysis through comparing a) melt profiles and b) normalized curves of the known species targeting the gene cytochrome oxidase subunit 1.



**Figure 5:** High-resolution melting analysis through comparing a) melt profiles and b) normalized curves of the known species targeting the gene cytochrome b.



**Figure 6:** High-resolution melting analysis through comparing a) melt profiles and b) normalized curves of the known species targeting the mitochondrial gene 16S rRNA.

# 4.1.4 Species substitution in Nairobi

It was determined that although most of the samples sold to consumers were correctly labeled or represented, there was a total of 15 cases out of the 115 samples misrepresented. As the desired species was specified during purchase, it was possible to detect misrepresentation. Of the 61 expected to be cattle, two (3.27%) were goat, and one (1.64%) was camel, whereas one of the nine purchased pig samples was cattle. It was also found that four (13.3%) of the expected goat samples were sheep, while three of them were cattle (Figure 7). The case of species substitution was higher in the fish samples, where all the tilapia samples purchased were found to be Nile perch.



**Figure 7:** Stacked graph showing species substitution in Nairobi meat value chain (November 2018)

# 4.2 Experimental analysis of meat samples

#### 4.2.1 Effect of different treatments on PCR-HRM profiles

The application of different treatments has minimal effect on the melting temperatures of the PCR products. Analysis was carried out on CO1, where single peaks could be viewed and compared (Figures 7 and 8). Although there was a slight shift in the Tm, there was no correlation between heat treatment and higher melting temperature. The shift in Tm of the CO1 amplicons compared to the control (untreated meat) ranged between -0.54°C and +0.75°C for microwaved samples, -0.25°C and +0.56 °C for oven dried samples and -0.23°C and +0.65°C for the rotten meat samples. There was a slight shift in Tm based on the different treatments applied. However, the standard deviation is low showing that various conditions meat is found in will not affect PCR-HRM results (Table 3).



**Figure 8:** Normalized HRM profiles showing how the melting temperature of the CO1 region of the DNA samples was affected by the different treatments applied.



**Figure 9:** Melt rate profiles of CO1 regions from DNA extracted from meat exposed to different treatments.

		Melting temperature per treatment					
Sample ID	Species	Raw	Rotten	Oven- dried	Cooked	Standard deviation	Variance
Goat64	Goat	83.63	83.42	83.38	84.17	0.3636	0.1322
Goat27	Goat	83.52	83.60	83.52	83.70	0.0854	0.0073
Goat08	Goat	83.50	83.61	83.61	83.65	0.0645	0.0042
Camel1	Camel	84.30	84.42	84.30	84.25	0.0723	0.0052
Camel2	Camel	84.35	84.80	84.25	84.25	0.2626	0.0690

Table 3: Melting temperatures of single peaked profiles targeting CO1 marker

Two-way ANOVA was carried out based on the two factors; treatment applied and species. Due to the unbalanced nature of the data a Type III ANOVA test was carried out using R, giving the results shown in Table 4.

Table 4: ANOVA test looking at effect of treatments applied on the meltingtemperature.

Source	Sum of Squares	Degrees of Freedom	F-Value	Pr (>F)
(Intercept)	14196.1	1	5.7006e+05	< 2e-16 ***
Species	0.2	1	8.1003e+00	0.01473 *
Treatments	0.2	3	2.2206e+00	0.13838
Species: Treatments	0.3	3	3.4829e+00	0.05028
Residuals	0.3	12		

Signif. codes: 0 '\*\*\*' 0.001 '\*\*' 0.01 '\*' 0.05

The only significant difference in melting temperature is caused by species of origin; which determines the GC content of the DNA segment, hence the melting temperature. The intercept value caters for imbalance between the number of samples i.e. two camels and three goats. Both the PCR-HRM analysis and statistical analysis show that application of different treatments will not hinder the correct identification of meat samples obtained from suspected channels.
## 4.2.2 Effect of different extraction protocols on PCR-HRM

To compare the different extraction protocols, the Qiagen extraction protocol was used as the standard (control). Other extraction protocols were compared to this protocol. The melt temperatures varied with a range of  $-0.1^{\circ}$ C to  $+0.29^{\circ}$ C for Isolate II, between less than  $+0.1^{\circ}$ C to  $+0.2^{\circ}$ C for the lab optimized protocol and less than  $+0.1^{\circ}$ C to  $+0.2^{\circ}$ C for the modified lab-optimized protocol which excludes proteinase K, respectively. The melt profiles were unchanged at the species level (Figure 10 and Figure 11). In all the samples compared, Qiagen- extracted samples had the lowest melting temperature (Table 5). These curves show that the use of extraction protocol used has little effect on the melting behavior of the DNA. The protocols cause even less variation between the T<sub>m</sub>s than the treatments used. Species of origin is still the major determinant of the final melting temperature (Table 6).



Figure 10: Melt rate profiles of the CO1 gene showing the shift in melting temperature of three species: camel, goat and sheep.



Figure 11: Normalized HRM curves of the CO1 region of three species (camel, goat

and sheep) showing decrease in fluorescence with increase in temperature.

Table 5:	Changes in	n melting	temperatures	based o	on DNA	extraction	protocol
used							

		Melting temperature per Protocol					
Sample ID	Species	Qiagen	IsolateII	JHK	JHK/P	Standard deviation	Variance
41BM_Goat	Goat	83.41	83.70	83.41	83.45	0.1396	0.0195
43BM_Goat	Goat	83.30	83.38	83.38	83.38	0.0400	0.0016
44BM_Camel	Camel	83.90	84.00	84.03	84.04	0.0640	0.0041
92BM_Goat	Goat	83.33	83.43	83.39	83.42	0.0450	0.0020
Camel1	Camel	83.90	84.00	84.03	84.04	0.0640	0.0041

Source	Sum o	of	Degrees	of	F-Value	Pr(>F)
	Squares		Freedom			
(Intercept)	14112.0		1		2.4662e+06	< 2.2e-16 ***
Species	0.3		1		5.1730e+01	1.098e-05 ***
					1 1 2 0 1 0 0	
Protocol	0.0		3		1.4301e+00	0.2825
Species:	0.0		3		8.8910e-01	0.4746
Protocol						
Residuals	0.3		12			
					1	

 Table 6: ANOVA results of association between extraction protocol, species of origin and the melting temperature

Signif. codes: 0 '\*\*\*' 0.001 '\*\*' 0.01 '\*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

## 4.2.3 Distinction of meat sources using PCR-HRM

The distinction of meat mixtures was not possible using conventional PCR-gel analysis targeting of any of the markers we used for vertebrate identification (Figure 12). This is because the amplicons produced targeting the mitochondrial markers are the same size across species (200bp), which was different from the expected band size of the universal 16S rRNA marker used for screening of bacteria (1350 bp). However, gel analysis of amplicons using species-specific primers would have allowed this distinction. The melting profiles obtained from the short CO1 marker showed slight variations between pure samples and the mixed samples but could not be used to show the individual sources that made up the mixture.

The Cyt b marker was successful in showing separate curves for the white meat mixtures including chicken and pork and tilapia and pork (Figure 13a), with DNA from mixed meat sources having two distinct peaks. The individual curves corresponded with the distinct meat sources. However, differentiating sources of red meat using this marker was not possible. For instance, all mixtures that contained any goat meat had a melt profile indistinguishable from pure goat samples (Figure 13b).

Amplification targeting the marker mitochondrial 16S rRNA gave the best resolution in isolating the individual sources making up the mixtures. With two distinct peaks, each matching with the source species, visible in the samples with DNA extracted from mixed meat. The only mixed samples that could not be determined using this marker contained cattle and sheep sources due to their similar melt temperature and profile (Figure 14).



**Figure 12:** Agarose gel image of mitochondrial 16S rRNA gene amplification of domestic and mixed meat samples using PCR.

Expected band size - 200bp

Key: Lane- N- non-template control, 1-cattle, 2-goat, 3-camel, 4-pig, 5-chicken, 6sheep, 7-cow + goat, 8-cow + camel, 9- pork + chicken, 10-goat + sheep.



**Figure 13:** Melt rate profiles showing how Cyt b distinguishes pure and mixed samples. (a) Double peaks that correspond to mixed samples in white meats. (b) Red meat mixtures cannot be clearly distinguished using the same marker.



**Figure 14:** High-resolution melting analysis of the mitochondrial 16S rRNA gene of pure and mixed meat samples. Melting profiles produce double peaks in mixed samples that correspond with source species.

#### 4.3 Molecular screening of zoonotic bacterial pathogens

#### 4.3.1 Brucella spp.

PCR-HRM analysis targeting the bcsp31 gene present in all *Brucella* species was carried out successfully (Figure 15), yielding preliminary results with 27 positive samples out of the 221 samples (Appendix 3). Of these 27 samples, 18 were samples obtained in Nairobi, while the rest were from Naivasha. The majority of these samples were from cattle, at 42.86%, followed by 8 goat samples and 5 sheep. This was also confirmed using conventional PCR where the expected band size, 151 bp, was observed. The presence of this gene shows the presence of pathogenic *Brucella* species in the meat sample. Representative positive samples, after amplification and clean-up were sent for sequencing. Thereafter, comparison of sequences against the GenBank database confirmed that *Brucella* species highly similar to the species *Brucella abortus*, *B. suis* and *B. melitensis* were present in the sample (Appendix 5). PCR-HRM targeting the *bcsp31* gene could not be used to distinguish multiple *Brucella* species in the same sample. This is because it is common in the *Brucella* genus.



**Figure 15:** Melt rate profiles obtained during screening for *Brucella*. All samples with peaks similar to the positive controls were considered as positive in the preliminary screening.

## 4.3.2 Leptospira spp.

Out of the total 221 samples, only one meat sample, a cattle sample from Kinamba, Naivasha area was found positive for pathogenic *Leptospira* species. Although 3 samples had peaks similar to the secYIV marker, sequencing confirmed that only one of those samples was pathogenic *Leptospira* while the other two were merely artifacts (Figure 16). Re-running the PCR-HRM assay, showed that only that single sample had peaks corresponding with the positive control. Using NCBIs Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) confirmed that the positive sample had 99.1% identity with *Leptospira interrogans* (Appendix 6).



**Figure 16:** Melt rate profiles of the SecYIV gene that is present in all pathogenic Leptospira species.

Key: NTC- Non-template control

## **4.3.3** Bacillus anthracis

Using the optimized conditions to screen for possible risk of exposure to anthrax through the food chain, yielded no positive samples. The marker PL3 was used to optimize both standard PCR and PCR-HRM, but there were no similar peaks or bands within the samples (Figure 17).



**Figure 17:** PCR-HRM melt profiles for Bacillus anthracis screening. No samples were positive for the pathogen.

Key: NTC- Non-template control

## 4.3.4 Coxiella burnetti

Screening for this pathogen using lab -optimized conditions, yielded no positive samples. There were no positive samples used in this run although the PCR-HRM primer conditions had been optimized previously.

## 4.3.5 Universal 16S rRNA gene pathogens

The use of the general primers targeting the 16S rRNA gene sections of bacteria allowed us to identify both apathogenic and pathogenic bacteria. The primers amplified the region between 27 bp and 1492 bp of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene. Due to the large expected band size, PCR-HRM was not ideal for their identification. Hence, conventional PCR was used (Figure 18a and 18b). Of the 221 samples

screened using these primers, 59 were positive, with visible bands of the expected band size (Figure 18a).





Expected band size - 1350bp

Key: L-Ladder, N- Non-template control. Those numbered in red were positive for bacteria.



Figure 18b: Gel electrophoresis image of selected positive samples that were screened for bacteria using the universal 16S rRNA primers and cleaned for sequencing.

Expected band size – 1350bp

Key: L-Ladder, N- Non-template control, Lanes 2-8 contain representative samples found to contain bacteria.

Of the 59 positive samples identified and sequenced, only 7 were proven to be pathogenic using NCBIs BLAST sequence alignment (Appendix 2). Those with both the Query cover and percentage of higher than 90% were considered as positively identified. (Sequences in Appendix 7) Four of them were determined to be *Lactococcus garvieae*, one *Clostridium perfringens* species, one *Clostridium septicum* and *Aeromonas caviae*. Four of seven contaminated samples were from Naivasha region where as the rest were from Nairobi. The *Clostridium* species were found in cattle samples collected from Burma Market whereas the *Aeromonas* was found in a giraffe meat (Ouso *et al.*, 2020) sample misrepresented and sold in Kambi Somali, Naivasha region. Three of the *Lactococcus* species were found in samples

sold in Naivasha region (2 sheep and 1 cattle) whereas one was found in a pig sample obtained in Jerusalem, Nairobi. The small proportion of pathogens (35/221) or roughly 8%, indicates that in the samples obtained in this study, meat fraud did not pose a public health risk.

## **CHAPTER FIVE**

#### 5.0 DISCUSSION

#### 5.1 Vertebrate species identification

The use of mitochondrial DNA markers for species determination has proven useful, reliable and is even used in barcoding of species (Barcaccia et al., 2016). These markers are favored due to their high copy numbers in cells as well as high mutation rates, which allow for distinction of closely related species (Klomtong et al., 2016). Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) markers are used to track down food piracy and mislabeling because they are highly conserved in the species level as well as preserved even in processed food products (Barcaccia et al., 2016). Comparison of unknown samples with HRM profiles of known meat sources was successfully used in the identification of animal sources of meat. The mitochondrial 16S rRNA, Cyt b, and CO1 markers used have been used previously in blood-meal (Omondi et al., 2015; Ogola et al., 2017) as well as bushmeat (Ouso et al., 2020) analysis. The use of these three mtDNA markers for meat source analysis gave us a more robust way of species determination and distinction as some samples amplified well with one marker and not another (Omondi et al., 2015; Ouso et al., 2019). Using these markers, we were able to detect 15cases of species substitution, the majority of which occurred between goat meat and cheaper alternatives such as cattle (three cases) and sheep (four cases). This occurrence is similar with those reported before (Cawthorn et al., 2013; Di Pinto et al., 2015), where most adulteration is linked to financial gain, and may cause allergic reactions but no public-health risk. Growing evidence that relates the consumption of beef and mutton with a severe allergic reaction termed "*midnight anaphylaxis*" reveals that substitution with meat from these species may pose a health risk to susceptible populations (Gray et al., 2016).

Generally, differences in the profiles produced between species were far greater than differences within species of all genes. Although CO1 gave the best differentiation between species, it had lower PCR amplification and peaks in the melt profiles of some species such as cattle and pig when compared to the other two markers. These species also had multiple peaks in CO1 amplification making analysis of the melting temperature difficult in those cases. The Cyt b and mitochondrial 16S rRNA markers had higher peaks and amplification in the majority of samples. A study carried out by Nicolas *et al.* (2012) found that intra- and inter-specific divergences were significantly higher for CO1 and Cyt b genes than for mitochondrial 16S rRNA. Their work showed that 16S is 2.5 less variable than Cyt b and CO1, giving it lower discriminatory power. An interesting look into this phenomenon is shown in known pig samples which had a wide range of melting temperatures when analyzed using the mitochondrial 16S rRNA gene and cyt b markers as shown in Appendix 8.

The application of various treatments to the meat samples allowed us to mimic the conditions that meat samples may be found in. Often, meat analyzed for species determination in food fraud cases may have undergone some post-slaughter changes such as processing, cooking, sun-drying or smoking, for instance in bushmeat cases (Ramanan & Khapugin, 2017). A comparison of the melting temperature between

the DNA extracted from raw (controls), oven-dried, cooked and degraded meat samples allowed us to note that the application of different meat treatments had minimal effect on the HRM curve profiles of the different domestic animals. The HRM profiles obtained from using CO1 were more reliable as there was less intraspecific variation unlike those produced targeting mitochondrial 16S rRNA. The similar melting profiles and slight shifts in the melting temperature show that highresolution melting targeting mitochondrial markers will give similar results in samespecies meat samples even if they have undergone different treatments. Based on the HRM analysis, the largest shift in melting temperature was seen in microwaved meat, where there was a more significant deviation from control samples. Sakalar *et al.* (2012) showed that application of heat treatments such as baking and boiling decrease the detectable number of copies of some genes. The temperature applied, as well as the length of heat treatment would affect the quantification of DNA from the samples. This could also explain the slight shift in the HRM curves displayed.

The use of four different extraction protocols; i.e. manual vs kit-based extraction, yielded even less of a variation between the same-species samples. The variation in melting temperature was probably caused by the difference in salt concentrations of the DNA yielded using different protocols. For instance, cations such as Mg<sup>2+</sup> and Na<sup>+</sup> interact with the highly charged DNA polyanion, with lower Na<sup>+</sup> concentrations favoring the denaturation of double stranded DNA (Tan & Chen, 2006). Notably, in the samples tested, QIAGEN kit extracted samples had the lowest melting temperature whereas the lab-optimized protocols had higher temperatures. Although

the  $T_m$  shifted, their variation did not cause a change in the melting profile. This technique is hence reliable with the use of various extraction protocols.

Additionally, based on melting profiles with double-peaks, we were able to detect mixed meat samples by targeting the mitochondrial markers Cyt b as well as 16S rRNA. With increased need to check for meat-adulteration (O'Mahony, 2013; Di Pinto *et al.*, 2015), faster, more affordable techniques are also required. HRMA allows one to filter through all the samples hence saving on cost of sequencing tools from all to only those that have questionable profiles or some representative samples (Lopez-Oceja *et al.*, 2017). Although Cyt b enabled the distinction of several mixtures from domestic animal sources, all mixtures containing goat meat were indistinguishable from pure goat samples. Using mitochondrial 16S rRNA gene, allowed for more distinction of the sources of meat. However, this technique was limited in cases where the vertebrate sources have similar melt profiles and temperatures such as *Bos taurus* and *Ovis aries*.

Despite its proven advantages, HRM analysis is limited by its need to have a set of reference species that are to be run side by side with samples in each run. The samples selected as references are also quite subjective, determined by what the researcher may deem as important. However, unique HRM profiles that do not match any controls can be identified by amplicon sequencing of representative samples. The use of the mitochondrial genes, which are commonly used for DNA barcoding and species fingerprinting, made species differentiation possible.

However, although mitochondrial markers are preferred in species identification, (Ballin *et al.*, 2009; Cai *et al.*, 2017) they are not appropriate for quantification of meat samples in mixtures because there are major differences in mtDNA levels in diverse species (Cai *et al.*, 2017).

## 5.2 Pathogens identified using molecular analysis.

The screening of the meat samples showed that although most of the meat sold in Nairobi and Naivasha during the time period were free from zoonoses, bacterial contaminants had come in contact with zoonotic pathogens. As the meat samples were obtained from the final selling point (butcheries), it was not possible to determine at which point in the meat value chain that contamination with these pathogens occurred. This is because the pathogens could have originated from the meat handlers or the meat handling environment from the slaughterhouses up to the butcheries. These findings could vary depending on the season of sampling (D'Andrea *et al.*, 2012) as well as tissue sample collected. For instance, pathogens of the genus *Leptospira* tend to colonize the renal tubules of the kidneys (Jobbins & Alexander, 2015) and would hence be hard to find in the muscular tissue most often sold as meat. Despite this, one meat sample from Naivasha was found to contain this pathogen, hence determining that those who handled the animal and its bodily fluids, for instance during slaughter, were exposed to this pathogen.

The risk of transmission of brucellosis was even higher due to the higher number of samples found with the causative pathogens. This transmission could occur in cases

of consumption of undercooked contaminated meat. Since it is often regarded as an occupational hazard, it could also be transmitted to the farmers, slaughterhouse workers and butchers who had contact with any of the bodily fluids of these infected animals (Garshasbi *et al.*,2014). Given that a majority of the *Brucella* positive samples were cattle, this also hints that any female cattle within the herd could also transmit these pathogens through the milk they produce. There could also be cases of spontaneous abortions within the herd causing economic losses.

The absence of *Bacillus anthracis* in the samples correlated with the prevalence reports indicated in the country. Although dead animals have been reported to be sold to meat butcheries in slums, hence posing a risk of the spread of this pathogen (Alarcon *et al.*, 2017a), none were found in the samples collected. Anthrax outbreaks in Kenya are often recurrent in hotspot areas such as Nakuru West subcounty where livestock, humans, as well as wildlife are affected (Muturi *et al.*, 2018). However, none of our samples contained this pathogen.

Targeting the universal 16S rRNA gene to detect bacterial pathogens only resulted in the conclusive identification of 7/59 of the positive samples. This could be attributed to the nature of the primers, which amplified most bacteria present. Hence, any sample that could have more than one profile would be difficult to sequence and confidently identify. Another reason for this was that the majority of bacteria found were not pathogenic, but instead consisted of those normally found in nature. *Lactococcus garvieae*, one of the pathogens identified using the universal bacterial primers, is a non-motile Gram-positive, catalase negative, facultatively anaerobic coccus (Rubião, 2018). It has optimum growth at 45°C, pH of 9.6, and at 6.5% NaCl (Rubião, 2018). It was determined to be the etiological agent of lactococcosis discovered in rainbow trout in Japan in the 1950s (Ferrario *et al.*, 2013) and has since spread to numerous countries and has been associated with outbreaks of this disease in many fish and marine species. Improvement in molecular techniques over the years has led to the isolation of this pathogen in other animals such as cattle and buffaloes with mammary infection (Ferrario *et al.*, 2013). Several strains of this species have been isolated from several food products such as milk, dairy products, meat, seafood and fish. They have also been isolated from human clinical samples (Ferrario *et al.*, 2013; Rubião, 2018), making *L. garvieae* gain recognition as an emerging human pathogen (Reguera-Brito *et al.*, 2016).

Although infective endocarditis is the most common manifestation of *L. garvieae*, it has been linked to other clinical manifestations such as liver abscess, urinary infections, infective spondylodictic and peritonitis in the immuno-compromised and elderly people (Reguera-Brito *et al.*, 2016). The presence of this pathogen in meat, could pose a hazard to such consumers, especially if the meat is undercooked or contaminated by this bacterium during handling. This is because epidemiological data from clinical studies shows a relationship between infection with *L. garvieae* and consumption of contaminated food (mostly seafood and fish) (Gibello *et al.*, 2016).

Pathogens of the genus *Clostridia*, which were isolated from meat samples obtained in Nairobi region, are opportunistic in nature (Nanjappa et al., 2015). They are responsible for various deadly diseases such as gas gangrene, botulism and tetanus. *Clostridium perfringens* is a rod-shaped spore-forming, anaerobic, Gram-positive pathogenic bacterium normal to the intestinal flora of humans and animals. It can grow at temperatures that range between 20°C and 50°C. C. perfringens is classified into 5 types (A-E) (Uzal et al., 2014; Dave, 2017) and produces over 20 toxins (Kiu & Hall, 2018; Yibar et al., 2018). Consumption of food contaminated by this enterotoxin-producing C. perfringens (CPE) vegetative cells leads to food poisoning associated with abdominal pain and watery diarrhea (Yibar et al., 2018). By 2013, this pathogen was the second most frequent cause of food-borne illness in the United states, causing around one million illnesses annually (Grass et al., 2013). Meat and poultry outbreaks reported to the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) Foodborne Disease Outbreak Surveillance System between the years 1998 and 2010 accounted for 92% of outbreaks linked to this pathogen (Grass et al., 2013). Although C. septicum is generally found in nature and transmitted especially through contact of wounds with contaminated soil (originally reported during wartime), there have been clinical cases of infections in unwounded, otherwise healthy individuals. It was suggested that the source of the organism was the individuals own intestinal tract (Alpern & Dowell, 1969). The presence of these pathogens, especially C. perfringens, a known food-borne pathogen, shows that consumers could be at risk of infection by them.

Bacteria of the genus Aeromonas are Gram-negative, oxidase-positive, glucosefermenting, facultatively anerobic rods (Isonhood & Drake, 2002) and usually found ubiquitous in aquatic environments. They have been isolated from environmental, clinical and food samples (Castilho et al., 2009). These species have been identified as pathogens to both humans and poikilothermic animals, with clinical isolates obtained from patients with soft tissues infections, otitis, cystitis, septicaemia, diarrhea and extraintestinal diseases (Castilho et al., 2009). These species have been discussed as potential or emerging food-borne pathogens, though this matter has been considered controversial because the results from human volunteer studies were inconclusive (Isonhood & Drake, 2002). However, the epidemiological evidence being produced from further research shows that these bacteria are able to cause gastroenteritis (Isonhood & Drake, 2002). Although the best growth temperature of aeromonads is believed to be 28°C, there has been a wide variability and range in the optimum temperature. Many strains can still grow at less than 5°C, and hence can grow in refrigerated foods. Aeromonas cavieae, which was found in one of the misrepresented samples, where giraffe meat was sold as livestock meat (Ouso et al., 2020), are highly cytotoxic and slightly enterotoxigenic in nature (Martins et al., 2002). The presence of this food-borne pathogen in the meat sold to consumers also indicates a risk of infection.

## 5.3 The meat value chain

The present study has shown that there are cases of meat fraud in the meat value chain in Nairobi, where consumers are sold different animal species other than the meat requested and paid for. The case of species substitution was also shown in archived samples used in this study (Ouso et al., 2020). The presence of species substitution in the meat value chain could also bring about the violation of various religious beliefs; for instance, in cases where cattle and pig species were interchanged. The most substituted meat species was goat, which has a higher commercial value than the rest. The case of camel meat sold in place of beef is a cause for concern as camels are known to be significant point of transmission of zoonotic diseases to humans (Zhu *et al.*, 2019).

Aside from financial fraud, investigating the meat value chain also showed that although bacterial contaminants were found, this was expected as livestock are known reservoirs of zoonotic pathogen. This was made clear by the presence of the zoonotic pathogens *Leptospira interrogans*, *Brucella* spp., as well as the food-borne pathogens uncovered in these two regions: Naivasha subcounty and Nairobi county. The incidence of bacteria was not seen as more significant in either of the locations with roughly 14% and 18% of the samples obtained from Naivasha and Nairobi respectively having any of the target pathogens.

Although no bushmeat was found in this study, investigation by the Kenya Wildlife Services (KWS) uncovered the sale of wild animals in the target site, Burma Market. On June 28<sup>th</sup> 2019, 800 kgs of bushmeat being sold as beef to consumers were revealed to be Zebra meat, leading to the arrest of 15 traders (Kiage, 2019). A few weeks later, on August 6<sup>th</sup> 2019, 200kgs of buffalo meat was impounded by KWS officials on its way to Nairobi from Naivasha where it would have been sold to consumers in the same meat market (Gitonga, 2019), bypassing the inspection protocols required to protect them (Kenya Bureau of Standards, 2017; GOK, 2012). The study's inability to collect any bushmeat could be due to lack of intelligence from KWS officials, as was done in the archived samples obtained from Naivasha (Ouso et al., 2020) concerning recently poached animals that would lead to sale of suspected bushmeat. The sampling strategy used, where small quantities of meat was purchased from several stalls could have aroused suspicion among the traders who would consequently only sell the meat obtained from legal species. Despite this, the study showed that meat fraud takes place in the sampling areas.

# 5.4. Conclusion and Recommendations

### 5.4.1 Conclusions

- The use of the three genes, CO1, mitochondrial 16S rRNA and Cyt b to identify the vertebrate species was efficient as it allowed for the proper distinction of species.
- High-resolution melting analysis is a robust analytical technique that can be used in meat species determination as well as to screen for various pathogens.

# 5.4.2 Recommendations

- PCR-HRM could be incorporated in the meat quality control system for fast, relatively affordable and accurate species-identification in the meat value chain.
- The use of PCR-HRM can be used for the quick detection of pathogen contaminants in the meat sector.
- Routine surveys checking for meat substitution should be carried out in the major meat markets across the country to determine if meat traders are abiding by the laws put in place.

#### REFERENCES

Abbas, O., Zadravec, M., Baeten, V., Mikuš, T., Lešić, T., Vulić, A., Prpić, J., Jemeršić, L. and Pleadin, J., 2018. Analytical methods used for the authentication of food of animal origin. *Food Chemistry*, 246, pp.6-17. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.11.007.

Acutis, P.L., Cambiotti, V., Riina, M.V., Meistro, S., Maurella, C., Massaro, M., Stacchini, P., Gili, S., Malandra, R., Pezzolato, M. and Caramelli, M., 2019. Detection of fish species substitution frauds in Italy: A targeted National Monitoring Plan. *Food Control*, 101, pp.151-155. doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2019.02.020.

Ågren, J., Hamidjaja, R.A., Hansen, T., Ruuls, R., Thierry, S., Vigre, H., Janse, I., Sundström, A., Segerman, B., Koene, M. and Löfström, C., 2013. In silico and in vitro evaluation of PCR-based assays for the detection of *Bacillus anthracis* chromosomal signature sequences. *Virulence*, 4(8), pp.671-685. doi: 10.4161/viru.26288.

Ahmed, A., Engelberts, M.F., Boer, K.R., Ahmed, N. and Hartskeerl, R.A., 2009. Development and validation of a real-time PCR for detection of pathogenic *Leptospira* species in clinical materials. *PloS one*, 4(9), p.e7093. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0007093.

Al-Kahtani, H.A., Ismail, E.A. and Ahmed, M.A., 2017. Pork detection in binary meat mixtures and some commercial food products using conventional and real-time PCR techniques. *Food chemistry*, 219, pp.54-60. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.09.108.

Alarcon, P., Fèvre, E.M., Murungi, M.K., Muinde, P., Akoko, J., Dominguez-Salas, P., Kiambi, S., Ahmed, S., Häsler, B. and Rushton, J., 2017b. Mapping of beef, sheep and goat food systems in Nairobi—A framework for policy making and the identification of structural vulnerabilities and deficiencies. *Agricultural systems*, 152, pp.1-17. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2016.12.005.

Alarcon, P., Fèvre, E.M., Muinde, P., Murungi, M.K., Kiambi, S., Akoko, J. and Rushton, J., 2017a. Urban livestock keeping in the city of Nairobi: diversity of production systems, supply chains, and their disease management and risks. *Frontiers in veterinary science*, 4, p.171. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2017.00171.

Alexander, K.A., Blackburn, J.K., Vandewalle, M.E., Pesapane, R., Baipoledi, E.K. and Elzer, P.H., 2012. Buffalo, bush meat, and the zoonotic threat of brucellosis in Botswana. *PloS one*, 7(3), p.e32842. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0032842.

Alpern, R.J. and Dowell, V.R., 1969. *Clostridium septicum* infections and malignancy.*The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 209(3), pp.385-388. doi: 10.1097/00000658-198103000-00020.

**Angelakis, E. and Raoult, D.,** 2010. Q fever. *Veterinary microbiology*, 140(3-4), pp.297-309. doi: 10.1201/b11523.

Applied Biosystems, 2009. A Guide to High Resolution Melting (HRM). Available at:

https://tools.thermofisher.com/content/sfs/manuals/cms\_070283.pdf.

Asante, J., Noreddin, A. and Zowalaty, M.E.E., 2019. Systematic Review of Important Bacterial Zoonoses in Africa in the Last Decade in Light of the 'One Health'Concept. *Pathogens*, 8(2), p.50. doi: 10.3390/pathogens8020050.

Baldacchino, F., Muenworn, V., Desquesnes, M., Desoli, F., Charoenviriyaphap, T. and Duvallet, G., 2013. Transmission of pathogens by *Stomoxys* flies (Diptera, Muscidae): a review. *Parasite*, 20. doi: 10.1051/parasite/2013026.

Ballin, N.Z., Vogensen, F.K. and Karlsson, A.H., 2009. Species determination–Can we detect and quantify meat adulteration?. *Meat science*, 83(2), pp.165-174. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2009.06.003.

**Barcaccia, G., Lucchin, M. and Cassandro, M.**, 2016. DNA barcoding as a molecular tool to track down mislabeling and food piracy. *Diversity*, 8(1), p.2. doi: 10.3390/d8010002.

**Barnes, T.,** 2018, June 26. Kenyan man jailed for selling cat meat for samosas. *The Independent*. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/africa/cat-meat-samosas-kenya-seller-jailed-nakuru-james-kimani-a8417111.html. Assessed 10 July 2020

**Bergevoet, R.H.M. and Engelen, A.V.**, 2014. The Kenyan meat sector Opportunities for Dutch agribusiness (No. 2014-032). LEI Wageningen UR.

Bett, H.K., Musyoka, M.P., Peters, K.J. and Bokelmann, W., 2012. Demand for meat in the rural and urban areas of Kenya: a focus on the indigenous chicken. *Economics Research International*, 2012.

**Boakye, D.A., Tang, J., Truc, P., Merriweather, A. and Unnasch, T.R.**, 1999. Identification of bloodmeals in haematophagous Diptera by cytochrome B heteroduplex analysis. *Medical and veterinary entomology*, 13(3), pp.282-287.

**Bouzembrak, Y., Steen, B., Neslo, R., Linge, J., Mojtahed, V. and Marvin, H.J.P.**, 2018. Development of food fraud media monitoring system based on text mining. *Food control*, 93, pp.283-296. doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2018.06.003.

Cai, Y., He, Y., Lv, R., Chen, H., Wang, Q. and Pan, L., 2017. Detection and quantification of beef and pork materials in meat products by duplex droplet digital PCR. *PloS one*, 12(8), p.e0181949. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0181949.

**Cantas, L. and Suer, K**., 2014. the important bacterial zoonoses in "one health" concept. *Frontiers in public health*, 2, p.144. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2014.00144.

**Cartin-Rojas, A.**, 2017. Food fraud and adulteration: A challenge for the foresight of veterinary services. *Scientific and Technical Review of the Office International des Epizooties*, 36, pp.1015-1024.

Castilho, M.C., Castro, T.L., Araújo, V.S., Trajano, R.S., Santos, P.A., Pimenta, P.M.,

Lucheze, K., Melo, J.T., Gonçalves, A.M., Nogueira, R.T. and de Luna, M.G., 2009. High frequency of hemolytic and cytotoxic activity in *Aeromonas* spp. isolated from clinical, food and environmental in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*, 96(1), pp.53-61. doi: 10.1007/s10482-009-9335-6.

**Cawthorn, D.M., Steinman, H.A. and Hoffman, L.C.,** 2013. A high incidence of species substitution and mislabelling detected in meat products sold in South Africa. *Food Control*, 32(2), pp.440-449. doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2013.01.008.

**Cetin, O., Bingol, E.B., Civan, E., Turgay, S.I. and Ergun, O.**, 2016. Identification of Animal Species and Foreign Tissues in Ready-to-Sell Fresh Processed Meat Products. *Acta Alimentaria*, 45(2), pp.198-205. doi: 10.1556/aalim.2015.0008.

Chuah, L.O., He, X.B., Effarizah, M.E., Syahariza, Z.A., Shamila-Syuhada, A.K. and Rusul, G., 2016. Mislabelling of beef and poultry products sold in Malaysia. *Food Control*, 62, pp.157-164. doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2015.10.030.

Cornelsen, L., Alarcon, P., Häsler, B., Amendah, D.D., Ferguson, E., Fèvre, E.M., Grace, D., Dominguez-Salas, P. and Rushton, J., 2016. Cross-sectional study of drivers of animal-source food consumption in low-income urban areas of Nairobi, Kenya. *BMC nutrition*, 2(1), p.70. doi: 10.1186/s40795-016-0109-z.

**D'Andrea, A., Martinez, Y.Z., Alduina, R., Monteverde, V., Molina, C.F. and Vitale, M.**, 2012. Comparison of two PCR methods for detection of *Leptospira interrogans* in formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded tissues. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, 107(1), pp.85-88.

**Dave, G.A.**, 2017. A rapid qualitative assay for detection of *Clostridium perfringens* in canned food products. *Acta Biochimica Polonica*, 64(2), pp.207-213. doi: 10.18388/abp.2015\_1169.

**Delgado, C.L.**, 2003. Rising consumption of meat and milk in developing countries has created a new food revolution. *The Journal of nutrition*, 133(11), pp.3907S-3910S. doi: 10.1093/jn/133.11.3907S.

Ducrotoy, M., Bertu, W.J., Matope, G., Cadmus, S., Conde-Álvarez, R., Gusi, A.M., Welburn, S., Ocholi, R., Blasco, J.M. and Moriyón, I., 2017. Brucellosis in Sub-Saharan Africa: Current challenges for management, diagnosis and control. *Acta tropica*, 165, pp.179-193. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2015.10.023.

**Duron, O.**, 2015. The IS1111 insertion sequence used for detection of *Coxiella burnetii* is widespread in *Coxiella*-like endosymbionts of ticks. *FEMS microbiology letters*, 362(17), p.fnv132. doi: 10.1093/femsle/fnv132.

**El-Sayed, A. and Awad, W.**, 2018. Brucellosis: Evolution and expected comeback. *International journal of veterinary science and medicine*, 6(sup1), pp.S31-S35., pp. 1–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ijvsm.2018.01.008.

**EPZA**, Meat Production in Kenya, Export Processing Zones Authority ,2005. http://www.epzakenya.com/UserFiles/File/MeatIndustry.pdf.

Fang, X. and Zhang, C., 2016. Detection of adulterated murine components in meat products by TaqMan© real-time PCR. *Food chemistry*, 192, pp.485-490. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.07.020.

**FAO**, 2019. Meat Market Review, March 2019. Overview of global meat market developments in 2018. Rome.

**FAO; USAID** ,2017. Africa Sustainable Livestock (ASL) 2050 Country Brief: Kenya, Country Brief Kenya. Available at http://www.fao.org/3/a-i7348e.pdf

**Farag, M.R., Alagawany, M., El-Hack, M.E.A., Tiwari, R. and Dhama, K.**, 2015. Identification of different animal species in meat and meat products: trends and advances. *Advances in Animal and Veterinary Sciences*, 3(6), pp.334-346..

**Farmer, E. and Mbwika, J.**, 2016. End market analysis of Kenyan livestock and meat: A desk study: The Accelerated Microenterprise Advancement Project (AMAP) Knowledge and Practice, micro-report# 184. Nairobi: USAID, 2012.

Ferrario, C., Ricci, G., Milani, C., Lugli, G.A., Ventura, M., Eraclio, G., Borgo, F. and Fortina, M.G., 2013. *Lactococcus garvieae*: where is it from? A first approach to explore the evolutionary history of this emerging pathogen. *PLoS One*, 8(12), p.e84796. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084796.

**Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations – FAO,** 2019. Overview of global meat market developments in 2018, *Meat Market Review*, pp. 1–11. Available at: http://www.fao.org/3/ca3880en/ca3880en.pdf.

**Fredriksson, N.J., Hermansson, M. and Wilén, B.M.**, 2013. The choice of PCR primers has great impact on assessments of bacterial community diversity and dynamics in a wastewater treatment plant. *PloS one*, 8(10), p.e76431. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0076431.

Galimberti, A., Sandionigi, A., Bruno, A., Bellati, A. and Casiraghi, M., 2015. DNA barcoding in mammals: what's new and where next?. *Hystrix, the Italian Journal of Mammalogy*, 26(1), pp.13-24.

**Gamba, P.**, 2005. Urban domestic consumption patterns for meat: trends and policy implications (No. 680-2016-46714).

Garba, A., Dzikwi, A.A., Okewole, P.A., Chitunya, W.B., Tirmidhi, A.B., Kazeem, H.M. and Umoh, J.U., 2013. Evaluation of dog slaughter and consumption practices related to the control of rabies in Nigeria.

Garshasbi, M., Ramazani, A., Sorouri, R., Javani, S. and Moradi, S., 2014. Molecular detection of *Brucella* species in patients suspicious of Brucellosis from Zanjan, Iran. *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology*, 45(2), pp.533-538. doi: 10.1590/S1517-

#### 83822014005000048.

Gibello, A., Galán-Sánchez, F., Blanco, M.M., Rodríguez-Iglesias, M., Domínguez, L. and Fernández-Garayzábal, J.F., 2016. The zoonotic potential of *Lactococcus garvieae*: an overview on microbiology, epidemiology, virulence factors and relationship with its presence in foods. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 109, pp.59-70.

**Girish, P.S., Haunshi, S., Vaithiyanathan, S., Rajitha, R. and Ramakrishna, C.**, 2013. A rapid method for authentication of Buffalo (*Bubalus bubalis*) meat by Alkaline Lysis method of DNA extraction and species specific polymerase chain reaction. Journal of food science and technology, 50(1), pp.141-146. doi: 10.1007/s13197-011-0230-6.

**Gitonga, A.,** 2019, August 6. 200 Kg of buffalo meat destined for Nairobi impounded in Naivasha. *The Standard.* https://www.standardmedia.co.ke/rift-valley/article/2001337042/200kg-of-wild-meat-destined-for-nairobi-impounded. Assessed 28 June 2020.

de Glanville, W.A., Conde-Álvarez, R., Moriyón, I., Njeru, J., Díaz, R., Cook, E.A., Morin, M., Bronsvoort, B.M.D.C., Thomas, L.F., Kariuki, S. and Fèvre, E.M., 2017. Poor performance of the rapid test for human brucellosis in health facilities in Kenya. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 11(4), p.e0005508. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0005508.

Government of Kenya (GOK), 2012. Laws of Kenya: Meat control act. Vol. Chapter 356.Nairobi:GovernmentPress.Retrievablefromhttp://extwprlegs1.fao.org/docs/pdf/ken101239.pdf accessed on August 2020.

Grace, D., Gilbert, J., Randolph, T. and Kang'ethe, E., 2012. The multiple burdens of zoonotic disease and an ecohealth approach to their assessment. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, 44(1), pp.67-73.

Grass, J.E., Gould, L.H. and Mahon, B.E., 2013. Epidemiology of foodborne disease outbreaks caused by *Clostridium perfringens*, United States, 1998–2010. *Foodborne Pathogens and Disease*, 10(2), pp.131-136. doi: 10.1089/fpd.2012.1316.

**Gray, C., van Zyl, A., & Strauss, L.**, 2016. '*Midnight anaphylaxis*' to red meat in patients with alpha-gal sensitisation: A recent discovery in the food allergy world and a case report from South Africa. *Current Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 29(2), 102–104.

**Guernier, V., Goarant, C., Benschop, J. and Lau, C.L.**, 2018. A systematic review of human and animal leptospirosis in the Pacific Islands reveals pathogen and reservoir diversity. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 12(5), p.e0006503.doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0006503.

Handford, C.E., Campbell, K. and Elliott, C.T., 2016. Impacts of milk fraud on food safety and nutrition with special emphasis on developing countries. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 15(1), pp.130-142. doi: 10.1111/1541-4337.12181.

Hebert, P.D., Cywinska, A., Ball, S.L. and Dewaard, J.R., 2003. Biological

identifications through DNA barcodes. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. *Series B: Biological Sciences*, 270(1512), pp.313-321.

Heredia, N. and García, S., 2018. Animals as sources of food-borne pathogens: A review. *Animal nutrition*, 4(3), pp.250-255. doi: 10.1016/j.aninu.2018.04.006.

Isonhood, J.H. and Drake, M., 2002. Aeromonas species in foods. Journal of Food Protection, 65(3), pp.575-582. doi: 10.4315/0362-028x-65.3.575.

**Ivanova, N.V., Clare, E.L. and Borisenko, A.V.**, 2012. DNA barcoding in mammals. In DNA barcodes (pp. 153-182). Humana Press, Totowa, NJ.

Jami, E. and Mizrahi, I., 2012. Composition and similarity of bovine rumen microbiota across individual animals. *PloS one*, 7(3), p.e33306.

**Jobbins, S.E. and Alexander, K.A.**, 2015. Evidence of *Leptospira* sp. infection among a diversity of African wildlife species: beyond the usual suspects. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 109(5), pp.349-351. doi: 10.1093/trstmh/trv007.

Juma, G.P., Ngigi, M., Baltenweck, I. and Drucker, A.G., 2010. Consumer demand for sheep and goat meat in Kenya. *Small ruminant research*, 90(1-3), pp.135-138. doi: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2009.12.002.

Kearse, M., Moir, R., Wilson, A., Stones-Havas, S., Cheung, M., Sturrock, S., Buxton, S., Cooper, A., Markowitz, S., Duran, C. and Thierer, T., 2012. Geneious Basic: an integrated and extendable desktop software platform for the organization and analysis of sequence data. *Bioinformatics*, 28(12), pp.1647-1649.

Kenya Bureau of Standards, 2017. Meat Hygiene – code of practice PUBLIC REVIEWDRAFT,NOVEMBER2017.Availableathttp://www.puntofocal.gov.ar/notific\_otros\_miembros/ken602\_t.pdf

Kenya National Bureau of Statistics, 2018. Statistical Abstract 2017. Available at <u>https://www.knbs.or.ke/?wpdmpro=statistical-abstract-2017</u>

**Kenya National Bureau of Statistics,** 2019. 2019 Kenya Population and Housing Census. *Volume I: Population by county and subcounty*. Available at https://www.knbs.or.ke/?wpdmpro=2019-kenya-population-and-housing-census-volume-i-population-by-county-and-sub-county

**Kets, F.,** 2016. The war on food fraud, the next big challenge for European Food Safety Law. Fraud and food safety a question of enforcement and prevention in the Netherlands. MSc Thesis. Universiteit Utrecht, Netherlands.

**Kiage, N.,** 2019, June 29. 15 traders busted with 800kg of Zebra meat at Burma market. *Nairobi News*. https://nairobinews.nation.co.ke/hustle/15-traders-busted-with-800kg-of-zebra-meat-at-burma-market. Assessed 28 June 2020

**Kimuyu, H.,** 2019, November 11. Trader arrested selling bush meat at Burma market. *Nairobi News*. https://nairobinews.nation.co.ke/news/trader-arrested-selling-bush-meat-at-burma-market-video. Assessed 28 June 2020.

Kimwele, C. N., Karisa, B. K., Stokes, M., Junga, J. O., Hanotte, O., Skilton, R. A., & McElroy, D. 2012. DNA species surveillance: Monitoring bushmeat poaching and trading in Kenya using partial cytochrome b gene. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, *11*(78). https://doi.org/10.5897/AJB11.2813

**Kipanga, P.N., Omondi, D., Mireji, P.O., Sawa, P., Masiga, D.K. and Villinger, J.**, 2014. High-resolution melting analysis reveals low *Plasmodium* parasitaemia infections among microscopically negative febrile patients in western Kenya. *Malaria journal*, *13*(1), p.429. doi: 10.1186/1475-2875-13-429.

Kiu, R. and Hall, L.J., 2018. An update on the human and animal enteric pathogen *Clostridium perfringens. Emerging Microbes & Infections*, 7(1), pp.1-15.

Klomtong, P., Phasuk, Y. and Duangjinda, M., 2016. 8. Animal Species Identification through High Resolution Melting Real Time PCR (HRM) of the Mitochondrial 16S rRNA Gene. *Annals of Animal Science*, 16(2), pp.415-424. doi: 10.1515/aoas-2015-0074.

Lee, P.S., Sing, K.W. and Wilson, J.J., 2015. Reading mammal diversity from flies: the persistence period of amplifiable mammal mtDNA in blowfly guts (*Chrysomya megacephala*) and a new DNA mini-barcode target. *PloS One*, 10(4), p.e0123871.

Levine, S.M., Perez-Perez, G., Olivares, A., Yee, H., Hanna, B.A. and Blaser, M.J., 2002. PCR-based detection of *Bacillus anthracis* in formalin-fixed tissue from a patient receiving ciprofloxacin. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 40(11), pp.4360-4362. doi: 10.1128/JCM.40.11.4360.

**Lopez-Oceja, A., Nuñez, C., Baeta, M., Gamarra, D. and de Pancorbo, M.M.**, 2017. Species identification in meat products: A new screening method based on high resolution melting analysis of cyt b gene. *Food chemistry*, 237, pp.701-706. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.06.004.

Lorenz, J.G., Jackson, W.E., Beck, J.C. and Hanner, R., 2005. The problems and promise of DNA barcodes for species diagnosis of primate biomaterials. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 360(1462), pp.1869-1877.

Lwanga, C. and Atieno, W., 2019. Kadzora: Rodent delicacy that has many salivating. Daily Nation.22nd August 2019. Available at: https://www.nation.co.ke/counties/kilifi/Kadzora--Rodent-delicacy-that-has-manysalivating/1183282-5244522-j32kkjz/index.html. Accessed :10th Dec 2019

Martins, L.M., Marquez, R.F. and Yano, T., 2002. Incidence of toxic Aeromonas isolated from food and human infection. *FEMS Immunology & Medical Microbiology*, 32(3), pp.237-242. doi: 10.1016/S0928-8244(02)00400-5.

McEvoy, J.D., 2016. Emerging food safety issues: An EU perspective. *Drug testing and Analysis*, 8(5-6), pp.511-520. doi: 10.1002/dta.2015.

Meusnier, I., Singer, G.A., Landry, J.F., Hickey, D.A., Hebert, P.D. and Hajibabaei, M., 2008. A universal DNA mini-barcode for biodiversity analysis. *BMC genomics*, 9(1), p.214.

Montowska, M. and Spychaj, A., 2018. Quantification of species-specific meat proteins in cooked and smoked sausages using infusion mass spectrometry. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 55(12), pp.4984-4993. doi: 10.1007/s13197-018-3437-y.

Morales-Estrada, A.I., Hernández-Castro, R., López-Merino, A., Singh-Bedi, J. and Contreras-Rodríguez, A., 2016. Isolation, identification, and antimicrobial susceptibility of *Brucella* spp. cultured from cows and goats manure in Mexico. *Archivos de Medicina Veterinaria*, 48(2), pp.231-235.

Munyua, P., Bitek, A., Osoro, E., Pieracci, E.G., Muema, J., Mwatondo, A., Kungu, M., Nanyingi, M., Gharpure, R., Njenga, K. and Thumbi, S.M., 2016. Prioritization of zoonotic diseases in Kenya, 2015. *PLoS One*, 11(8), p.e0161576. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0161576.

**Musso, D. and La Scola, B.**, 2013. Laboratory diagnosis of leptospirosis: a challenge. *Journal of Microbiology, Immunology and Infection*, 46(4), pp.245-252. doi: 10.1016/j.jmii.2013.03.001.

**Mutahi, M.,** 2017. Tonnes of dog, donkey meat goes to waste as Nairobi City County bans food hawking. *Standard Digital News*. Retrieved from https://www.sde.co.ke/article/2001227672/tonnes-of-dog-donkey-meat-goes-to-waste-as-nairobi-city-county-bans-food-hawking

Muturi, M., Gachohi, J., Mwatondo, A., Lekolool, I., Gakuya, F., Bett, A., Osoro, E., Bitek, A., Thumbi, S.M., Munyua, P. and Oyas, H., 2018. Recurrent Anthrax Outbreaks in Humans, Livestock, and Wildlife in the Same Locality, Kenya, 2014–2017. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 99(4), pp.833-839. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.18-0224.

**Nairobi City County Assembly**, 2014. Nairobi City County Assembly First Assembly -Second Session Ninth Report of the Committee on Agriculture, Environment and Natural Resources on the status of abbatoirs in Nairobi City County. pp.1–19. Available at https://nairobiassembly.go.ke/ncca/wp-content/uploads/committee\_documents/Abattoirs-Report.pdf

Nanjappa, S., Shah, S. and Pabbathi, S., 2015. Clostridium septicum gas gangrene in colon cancer: importance of early diagnosis. *Case reports in infectious diseases*, 2015. doi: 10.1155/2015/694247.

*The Kenya Food and Drugs Authority Bill, 2019.* Available at http://www.parliament.go.ke/sites/default/files/2019-

05/Kenya%20Food%20and%20Drugs%20Authority%20Bill%2C%202019\_compressed.p df . Accessed 15 January 2020

Ndeereh, D., Muchemi, G., Thaiyah, A., Otiende, M., Angelone-Alasaad, S. and Jowers, M.J., 2017. Molecular survey of Coxiella burnetii in wildlife and ticks at wildlife–livestock interfaces in Kenya. *Experimental and Applied Acarology*, 72(3), pp.277-289.doi: 10.1007/s10493-017-0146-6.

Nešić, K., Stojanović, D. and Baltić, Ž.M., 2017, September. Authentication of meat and meat products vs. detection of animal species in feed–what is the difference?. *In IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science* (Vol. 85, No. 1, p. 012043). IOP Publishing. doi: 10.1088/1755-1315/85/1/012043.

Newell, D.G., Koopmans, M., Verhoef, L., Duizer, E., Aidara-Kane, A., Sprong, H., Opsteegh, M., Langelaar, M., Threfall, J., Scheutz, F. and van der Giessen, J., 2010. Food-borne diseases—the challenges of 20 years ago still persist while new ones continue to emerge. *International journal of food microbiology*, 139, pp.S3-S15. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2010.01.021.

Nicolas, V., Schaeffer, B., Missoup, A.D., Kennis, J., Colyn, M., Denys, C., Tatard, C., Cruaud, C. and Laredo, C., 2012. Assessment of three mitochondrial genes (16S, Cytb, CO1) for identifying species in the Praomyini tribe (Rodentia: Muridae). *PLoS One*, 7(5), p.e36586. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036586.

**O'mahony, P.J.**, 2013. Finding horse meat in beef products—a global problem. *QJM: An International Journal of Medicine*, 106(6), pp.595-597. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hct087.

**Ogola, E., Villinger, J., Mabuka, D., Omondi, D., Orindi, B., Mutunga, J., Owino, V. and Masiga, D.K.**, 2017. Composition of *Anopheles* mosquitoes, their blood-meal hosts, and *Plasmodium falciparum* infection rates in three islands with disparate bed net coverage in Lake Victoria, Kenya. *Malaria journal*, 16(1), p.360. doi: 10.1186/s12936-017-2015-5.

**Omer, M.K., Alvarez-Ordonez, A., Prieto, M., Skjerve, E., Asehun, T. and Alvseike, O.A.**, 2018. A systematic review of bacterial foodborne outbreaks related to red meat and meat products. *Foodborne Pathogens and Disease*, *15*(10), pp.598-611. doi: 10.1089/fpd.2017.2393.

**Omondi, D., Masiga, D.K., Ajamma, Y.U., Fielding, B.C., Njoroge, L. and Villinger, J.**, 2015. Unraveling host-vector-arbovirus interactions by two-gene high resolution melting mosquito bloodmeal analysis in a Kenyan wildlife-livestock interface. *PLoS One*, 10(7), p.e0134375. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0134375.

**Otieno, Anyango** ,2018. One man's poison is another one's choice of delicacy. *Standard Digital*. 27th June 2018. Available at https://www.standardmedia.co.ke/article/2001285637/one-man-s-choice-delicacy-is-another-man-s-poison

**Ouso, D. O., Otiende, M. Y., Jeneby, M. M., Oundo, J. W., Bargul, J. L., Miller, S. E., Wambua, L., & Villinger, J.** (2020). Three-gene PCR and high-resolution melting analysis for differentiating vertebrate species mitochondrial DNA for biodiversity research and complementing forensic surveillance. *Scientific Reports, 10*(1), 4741. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-61600-3

Panghal, A., Yadav, D.N., Khatkar, B.S., Sharma, H., Kumar, V. and Chhikara, N., 2018. Post-harvest malpractices in fresh fruits and vegetables: food safety and health issues in India. *Nutrition & Food Science*, 48(4), pp.561-578. doi: 10.1108/NFS-09-2017-0181.

**Peña, V.H., Fernández, G.J., Gómez-Palacio, A.M., Mejía-Jaramillo, A.M., Cantillo, O. and Triana-Chávez, O.**, 2012. High-resolution melting (HRM) of the cytochrome B gene: a powerful approach to identify blood-meal sources in Chagas disease vectors. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 6(2), p.e1530.

**Perestam, A.T., Fujisaki, K.K., Nava, O. and Hellberg, R.S.**, 2017. Comparison of realtime PCR and ELISA-based methods for the detection of beef and pork in processed meat products. *Food Control*, 71, pp.346-352. doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2016.07.017.

**Di Pinto, A., Bottaro, M., Bonerba, E., Bozzo, G., Ceci, E., Marchetti, P., Mottola, A. and Tantillo, G.**, 2015. Occurrence of mislabeling in meat products using DNA-based assay. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 52(4), pp.2479-2484.. doi: 10.1007/s13197-014-1552-y.

**Probert, W.S., Schrader, K.N., Khuong, N.Y., Bystrom, S.L. and Graves, M.H.**, 2004. Real-time multiplex PCR assay for detection of *Brucella* spp., *B. abortus*, and *B. melitensis*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 42(3), pp.1290-1293. doi: 10.1128/JCM.42.3.1290.

Rahmati, S., Julkapli, N.M., Yehye, W.A. and Basirun, W.J., 2016. Identification of meat origin in food products–A review. *Food Control*, 68, pp.379-390. doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2016.04.013.

Ramanan, S.S. and Khapugin, A.A., 2017. Problematic wildlife: a cross-disciplinary approach. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-22246-2.

**Rastogi, G., Dharne, M.S., Walujkar, S., Kumar, A., Patole, M.S. and Shouche, Y.S.**, 2007. Species identification and authentication of tissues of animal origin using mitochondrial and nuclear markers. *Meat science*, 76(4), pp.666-674. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2007.02.006.

**Reed, G.H., Kent, J.O. and Wittwer, C.T.**, 2007. High-resolution DNA melting analysis for simple and efficient molecular diagnostics.

Reguera-Brito, M., Galán-Sánchez, F., Blanco, M.M., Rodríguez-Iglesias, M., Domínguez, L., Fernández-Garayzábal, J.F. and Gibello, A., 2016. Genetic analysis of human clinical isolates of *Lactococcus garvieae*: relatedness with isolates from foods. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, 37, pp.185-191. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2015.11.017.

**Ren, J., Deng, T., Huang, W., Chen, Y. and Ge, Y.**, 2017. A digital PCR method for identifying and quantifying adulteration of meat species in raw and processed food. *PloS One*, 12(3), p.e0173567. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0173567.

**Rubião, C.A., de Fátima, E. and de Mesquita, M.,** 2018. *Lactococcus garvieae*: emergent pathogen usually misidentified as enterococcalspecies. *MOJ Biology and Medicine*, 3(2), pp. 27–28. doi: 10.15406/mojbm.2018.03.00071.

**Şakalar, E., Abasiyanik, M.F., Bektik, E. and Tayyrov, A.**, 2012. Effect of heat processing on DNA quantification of meat species. *Journal of Food Science*, 77(9), pp.N40-N44. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3841.2012.02853.x.

**Sakaridis, I., Ganopoulos, I., Argiriou, A. and Tsaftaris, A.**, 2013. A fast and accurate method for controlling the correct labeling of products containing buffalo meat using High Resolution Melting (HRM) analysis. *Meat Science*, 94(1), pp.84-88. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2012.12.017.

Selim, A., Yang, E., Rousset, E., Thiéry, R. and Sidi-Boumedine, K., 2018. Characterization of *Coxiella burnetii* strains from ruminants in a *Galleria mellonella* hostbased model. *New Microbes and New Infections*, 24, pp.8-13. doi: 10.1016/j.nmni.2018.02.008.

Shibia, M., Rahman, S. and Chidmi, B., 2017. Consumer demand for meat in Kenya: an examination of the linear approximate almost ideal demand system (No. 1377-2016-109929).

Silvis, I.C.J., Van Ruth, S.M., Van Der Fels-klerx, H.J. and Luning, P.A., 2017. Assessment of food fraud vulnerability in the spices chain: An explorative study. *Food Control*, 81, pp.80-87. doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2017.05.019.

Spink, J. and Moyer, D.C., 2011. Defining the public health threat of food fraud. *Journal of Food Science*, 76(9), pp.R157-R163. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3841.2011.02417.x.

**Spychaj, A. Mozdziak, P.E. and Pospiech, E.**, 2009. PCR methods in meat species identification as a tool for the verification of regional and traditional meat products. *Acta Scientiarum Polonorum Technologia Alimentaria*, 8(2), pp.5-20.

Srinivasan, R., Karaoz, U., Volegova, M., MacKichan, J., Kato-Maeda, M., Miller, S., Nadarajan, R., Brodie, E.L. and Lynch, S.V., 2015. Use of 16S rRNA gene for identification of a broad range of clinically relevant bacterial pathogens. *PloS One*, 10(2), p.e0117617. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0117617.

**Tan, Z.J. and Chen, S.J.**, 2006. Nucleic acid helix stability: effects of salt concentration, cation valence and size, and chain length. *Biophysical journal*, 90(4), pp.1175-1190. doi: 10.1529/biophysj.105.070904.

**Tobe, S.S., Kitchener, A. and Linacre, A.**, 2009. Cytochrome b or cytochrome c oxidase subunit I for mammalian species identification—an answer to the debate. *Forensic Science* 

International: Genetics Supplement Series, 2(1), pp.306-307.

**Tokarz, R., Kapoor, V., Samuel, J.E., Bouyer, D.H., Briese, T. and Lipkin, W.I.**, 2009. Detection of tick-borne pathogens by MassTag polymerase chain reaction. *Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases*, *9*(2), pp.147-152. doi: 10.1089/vbz.2008.0088.

**Ureport.** (2018, June 25). Kenyan man who made half a million from selling cat meat. *Ureport-citizen journalism*. Retrieved from https://www.standardmedia.co.ke/ureport/article/2001285448/kenyan-man-who-made-half-a-million-from-selling-cat-meat

Uzal, F.A., Freedman, J.C., Shrestha, A., Theoret, J.R., Garcia, J., Awad, M.M., Adams, V., Moore, R.J., Rood, J.I. and McClane, B.A., 2014. Towards an understanding of the role of *Clostridium perfringens* toxins in human and animal disease. *Future Microbiology*, 9(3), pp.361-377.

Vlachos, A., Arvanitoyannis, I.S. and Tserkezou, P., 2016. An updated review of meat authenticity methods and applications. *Critical reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 56(7), pp.1061-1096. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2012.691573.

**Wa Maina, Robert** 2018. Man nabbed with 200kg zebra meat arraigned in Nakuru court. *Citizen Digital*. 22nd November 2018. Available at https://citizentv.co.ke/news/man-nabbed-with-200kg-zebra-meat-arraigned-in-nakuru-court-220313/

Wang, Q., Zhao, S., Wureli, H., Xie, S., Chen, C., Wei, Q., Cui, B., Tu, C. and Wang, Y., 2018. *Brucella melitensis* and *B. abortus* in eggs, larvae and engorged females of *Dermacentor marginatus*. *Ticks and tick-borne diseases*, 9(4), pp.1045-1048. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2018.03.021.

Wielinga, P.R., Hamidjaja, R.A., Ågren, J., Knutsson, R., Segerman, B., Fricker, M., Ehling-Schulz, M., De Groot, A., Burton, J., Brooks, T. and Janse, I., 2011. A multiplex real-time PCR for identifying and differentiating *B. anthracis* virulent types. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 145, pp.S137-S144. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2010.07.039.

**Woolfe, M. and Primrose, S.**, 2004. Food forensics: using DNA technology to combat misdescription and fraud. *TRENDS in Biotechnology*, 22(5), pp.222-226. doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2004.03.010.

Yang, F., Ding, F., Chen, H., He, M., Zhu, S., Ma, X., Jiang, L. and Li, H., 2018. DNA Barcoding for the identification and authentication of animal species in traditional medicine. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2018.

Yibar, A., Cetin, E., Ata, Z., Erkose, E. and Tayar, M., 2018. *Clostridium perfringens* contamination in retail meat and meat-based products in Bursa, Turkey. *Foodborne Pathogens and Disease*, 15(4), pp.239-245. doi: 10.1089/fpd.2017.2350.

Zhu, S., Zimmerman, D. and Deem, S.L., 2019. A review of zoonotic pathogens of
dromedary camels. *EcoHealth*, pp.1-22. doi: 10.1007/s10393-019-01413-7.

### APPENDICES

### Appendix 1: Positive controls used for identification of vertebrate sources of meat.

Species	Origin of sample	GPS Address	Description	No. of replicates
Chicken	City Stadium	-1°17'22.80"S 36°50'19.19" E	Vendor	2
Goat	Kiamaiko market	1°15'13.9"S 36°52'25.6"E	Abattoir	7
Rabbit	icipe	1°13'13.8"S 36°53'48.7"E	small animal unit	3
Cow	icipe	1°13'13.8"S 36°53'48.7"E	archived sample (Ouso et al., 2020)	2
Pig	icipe	1°13'13.8"S 36°53'48.7"E	archived sample (Ouso et al., 2020)	2
Camel	Eastleigh	-1°15'60.00"S 36°50'59.99" E	Stall	2

Sample ID	Species	Location	Bacteria	Accession Number	% identity	Query Cover	E- value
4BM	Cattle	Burma Market	Clostridium septicum gene for 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence, strain: JCM 7278.	AB558163.1	99.93%	100%	0.0
2BM	Cattle	Burma Market	<i>Clostridium perfringens</i> strain HBUAS55083 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence	MN537509.1	99.66%	100%	0.0
45BM	Pig	Jerusalem	<i>Lactococcus garvieae</i> strain FJAT-18104 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence	MF385039.1	99.93%	100%	0.0
88N	Giraffe	Kambi Somali	Aeromonas caviae strain T25-43 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence	MN733089.1	90.43%	95%	0.0
91N	Sheep	Unknown (Nakuru)	Lactococcus garvieae JRC- LG3 gene for 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence	МК990006.1	100%	100%	0.0
11N	Sheep	Kasarani (Nakuru)	<i>Lactococcus garvieae</i> strain FJAT-18104 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence	KX671995.1	100%	100%	0.0
96N	Cattle	Unknown (Nakuru)	Lactococcus garvieae strain FJAT-18104 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence	MN220581.1	99.32%	100%	0.0

### Appendix 2: BLAST results of bacteria identified using Universal 16S rRNA gene

Appendix 3: Samples that tested positive for <i>Brucella</i> sp
---

Sample ID	Species	Location
N58	Sheep	Mirera (MIR)
N59	Cattle	Karagita (KAR)
N61	Goat	Unknown locations (UL)
N73	Cattle	Langalanga (LG)
N26	Cattle	Kwa Muya (KM)
N71	Sheep	Langalanga (LG)
N63	Sheep	Kabati town (Kab)
N62	Cattle	Town/Kanjoo estate
N78	Sheep	Mutaita (MTT) - Elementaita
BM4	Cattle	Burma Market
<b>BM7</b>	Cattle	Burma Market
BM11	Cattle	Burma Market
BM25	Goat	Burma Market
BM27	Cattle	Burma Market
BM31	Cattle	Burma Market
BM34	Cattle	Burma Market
BM46	Cattle	Jerusalem
BM68	Sheep	Ngara
BM69	Goat	Ngara
BM97	Cattle	Mathare
G1	Goat	Kiamaiko Market
G4	Goat	Kiamaiko Market
G5	Goat	Kiamaiko Market
G6	Goat	Kiamaiko Market
G7	Goat	Kiamaiko Market
Til3	Nile perch	City Market
Til4	Nile perch	City Market

### Appendix 4: FASTA DNA sequences of selected vertebrate species

>3\_VId\_Chicken1, Gallus gallus mitochondrion, cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1

>15\_VID\_GM, Ovis aries mitochondrion, cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1

>26\_VID\_24BM\_R, *Bos taurus* mitochondrion, cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1

>27\_VId\_68BM, Ovis aries mitochondrion, cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1

>47\_VId\_GMB, Capra hircus mitochondrion, cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1

TCCTCCTCCTGGGGTCAAAGAAGGTTGTGTTTAGGTTTCGGTCTGTTAGTAGTATTGTGATGCC AGCTGCTAATACAGGAAGTGAAAGGAAGGAGGAGTAGTACGGCAGTAATTAAGACAGATCACACAAA CAGGGGAGTTTGATATTGTGATATTGCGGGTGGTTTCATGTTAATGATAGTTGTGATAAAATTAA TGGCTCCTAGAATTGAAGAGATGCCTGCTAGGTGTAGGGAAAAAATAGTTAGGTCTACTGAGGC TCCTGCATGGGCTAGATTACCTGCTAGAGGAGGAGTATACGGTTCAACCTGTTCCTGCTCCGGCTT CAACTATAGAGGATGCTAGAAGTAATAGGAAAGAGGGGGGAAAGAACAAGCTCAAAAGCTTATATT TTATCCGAGGAAATGCTATATCGGGGGCTCCAATTATTAGAGGGACTAGTCAGTTGCCAAACCT CCAATCATAAGGTATTACTATAAAGAAAATTATTACGAATGCGTGTGCAGTTACAATTACATT GTAGATCTGGTCATCTCCAAGTAGGGTTCCGGGTTGACCTAGTTCGGCGCGAATTAGTAAGCTCA AGGCGGTCCCTACTATGCCAGCTCAGGCACCGAACAGAAGGTAGAGGGTGCCAATATCCTTGTG GTTGGTTGAGAACTGG

>49\_VId\_11BM, Bos taurus mitochondrion, cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1

>50\_VID\_12BM, Sus scrofa mitochondrion, cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1

ACCCTGTACCTACTATTTGGTGCCTGAGCAGGAATAGTGGGCACTGCCTTGAGCCTACTAATTCG CGCTGAACTAGGTCAGCCCGGAACCCTACTTGGCGATGATCAAATCTATAATGTAATTGTTACAG CTCATGCCTTTGTAATAATCTTCTTTATAGTAATACCCATTATGATTGGGGGTTTTGGTAACTGACT CGTACCACTAATAATCGGAGCTCCCGATATGGCCTTTCCACGTATAAACAACATAAGTTTCTGACT ACTTCCACCATCCTTCCTATTACTACTGGCATCCTCAATAGTAGAAGCCGGGGGCGGGTACTGGAT GAACCGTATACCCACCTTTAGCTGGAAACTTAGCCCATGCAGGAGCTTCAGTTGATCTAACAATT TTCTCCCTACACCTTGCAGGTGTATCATCAATCCTAGGGGGCTATTAATTTCATTACCACAATTATTA ACATAAAACCTCCCGCAATGTCTCAATACCAAACACCCCTGTTTGTCTGATCAGGTACTAATCACAG CCGTACTACTTCTACTATCCCTGCCAGTTCTAGCAGCTGGCATTACTATACTACTACTAACAACACCGCA ACCTGAACACAACCTTTTTTGATCCAGCAGGTGGTGGAGACCCTATCCTTTACCACACTTGTTCT GATTCTTCGGCCACCCAGAAGTCTAGTCAT

>10\_CytB\_44BM, Camelus dromedarius mitochondrion, cytochrome b

AAGCTGTGGCTATGGTTCGTGAACAAGAAAGCAATTCCCACTGTTTCATGTTTCTGAAAAGGTAT ATGATCCGTAATATAGCCCTCGTCCCACGTGAATATATAGGCAAATGAAGAATATGGAAGCTCCG TTAGCATGTAATTATCGAATGATTCAGCCTTAGTTAACATCTCGACAGATGTGAGTTACAGAAGA AAAATCTGTTGTTGTCGGATGTATAATGGATTGCCTAGGAATAATCCTGGCCAGGA

>Vert16S\_T3, Lates niloticus 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence; mitochondrial

# Appendix 5: FASTA DNA sequences of selected pathogenic *Brucella* positive samples

>1\_BCSP\_25BM, Brucella melitensis strain VB12455 chromosome 1, complete sequence

GTTGCCAATATCAATGCGATCAAGTCGGGCGCTCTGGAGTCCGGCTTTACGCAGTCAGACGTTG CCTATTGGGCCTATAACGGCACCGGCCTTTATGATGGCAAGGGCAAGGTGGAAGATTTGCGCCT TCTGGCGACGCTTTACCC

>3\_BCSP\_48BM, Brucella suis bv. 1 strain 60 chromosome 1, complete sequence

TAGCTCGGTTGCCAATATCAATGCGATCAAGTCGGGCGCTCTGGAGTCCGGCTTTACGCAGTCA GACGTTGCCTATTGGGCCTATAACGGCACCGGCCTTTATGATGGCAAGGGCAAGGTGGAAGATT TGCGCCTTCTGGCGACGCTTTACCC

>11\_BCSP\_81BM, Brucella melitensis strain VB12455 chromosome 1, complete sequence

TCGGTTGCCAATATCAATGCGATCAAGTCGGGCGCTCTGGAGTCCGGCTTTACGCAGTCAGACG TTGCCTATTGGGCCTATAACGGCACCGGCCTTTATGATGGCAAGGGCAAGGTGGAAGATTTGCG CCTTCTGGCGACG

>3\_BCSP\_N73, *Brucella arbortus* isolate 5 BCSP31 gene, partial cpds.

CCAATGCCTCATAAAGGCCGGTGCCGTTATAGGCCCAATAGGCAACGTCTGACTGCGTAAAGCC GGACTCCAGAGCGCCCGACTTGATCGCATTGATATTGGCAACCGAGCTG

>1\_BCSP\_Til3, Brucella melitensis strain M1981 chromosome 1, complete sequence

CGGTGCCGTTATAGGCCCAATAGGCAACGTCTGACTGCGTAAAGCCGGACTCCAGAGCGCCCGA CTTGATCGCATTGATATTGGCAACCGAGCA

>2\_BCSP\_Til4, Brucella suis bv. 1 strain 60 chromosome 1, complete sequence

GCCGGTGCCGTTATAGGCCCAATAGGCAACGGTCTGACTGCGTAAAGCCGGACTCCAGAGCGCC CGACTTGATCACATTGATATTGGCAACCGAGCAA

### Appendix 6: FASTA DNA sequence of pathogenic Leptospira positive sample

>4\_secYIV\_N24, *Leptospira interrogans* serovar Autumnalis preprotein translocase (secY) gene

CGATTCAGTTTAATCCTGCAGAATTGGCTGAGAATTTGAAAAAATACGGTGGGTTCATTCCAGGA ATTCGTCCGGGTTCTCACACAAAAGAATACATTGAAAAAGTGTTAAATAGAATCACTCTTCCCGG AGCTATGTTTCTTGCAGGTTTGGCATTAGCACCTTATATTATTATAAAATTCTTAGATTCAAGCTCT AACT

# Appendix 7: FASTA DNA sequences of bacteria identified using Universal 16S rRNA primers

>1Uni2BM, Clostridium perfringens 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

GCTGCCTCCTTGCGGTTAGCTCACGGACTTCGGGTATTGCCAACTCTCATGGTGTGACGGGCGGT GTGTACAAGACCCGGGGAACGTATTCACCGCGACATTCTGATTCGCGATTACTAGTAACTCCAGCT TCATGTAGGCGAGTTTCAGCCTACAATCCGAACTGAGACTGGTTTTTAAGTTTGGCTCCACCTCG CGGTATTGCATCTCTGTACCAGCCATTGTAGCACGTGTGTAGCCCTACACATAAGGGGCATGA TGATTTGACGTCATCCCCACCTTCCTCCTGGTTAACCCAGGCAGTCTCGCTAGAGTCCTCAACTTA ATGGTAGTAACTAACGACAAGGGTTGCGCTCGTTGCGGGACTTAACCCAACATCTCACGACACG AGCTGACGACAACCATGCACCTGTCACCTTGTCCCCGAAGGGATTTCCTCGATTAAGAGTAA TGCAAGGGATGTCAAGTGTAGGTAAGGTTCTTCGCGTTGCTTCGAATTAAACCACATGCTCCGCT ACTTGTGCGGGTCCCCGTCAATTCCTTTGAGTTTTAATCTTGCGACCGTACTCCCCAGGCGGAATA CTTAATGCGTTAGCGGCGGCACGGAGGTGTTGAAACCCCCACACCTAGTATTCATCGTTTACGGC GTGGACTACCAGGGTATCTAATCCTGTGTGCTCCCCACGCTTTCGAGCCTCAGCGTCAGTTACAG TCCAGAGAGTCGCCTTCGCCACTGGTGTTCTTCCTAATCTCTACGCATTTCACCGCTACACTAGGA ATTCCACTCCCCCCCCGCACTCTAGATAACCAGTTTGGAATGCAGCACCCAAGTTGAGCCCGG GTATTTCACATCCCACTTAATCATCCGCCTACGCTCCCTTTACGCCCAGTAAATCCGGATAACGCT CGCCACCTACGTATTACCGCGGCTGCTGGCACGTAGTTAGCCGTGGCTTCCTCCTTGGGTACCGT ATCAGGGTTTCCCCCATTGTGCAATATTCCCACTGCTGCCTCCCGTAGGAGTCTGGGCCGTGTCTC AGTCCCAATGTGGCCGATCACCTCTCAGGTCGGCTACGCATCGTCGCCTTGGTAGGCGTTA

>3Uni\_4BM, Clostridium septicum gene for 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

GGTTACGCTCACGAACTTTGGGTATTGCCAACTCTCATGGTGTGACGGGCGGTGTGTACAAGGC CCGGGAACGTATTCACCGCGACATGCTGATTCGCGATTACTAGCAACTCCAGCTTCATGTAGGCG AGTTTCAGCCTACAATCCGAACTGAGACAAGTTTTATAGTTTAGCTCCACCTCGCGGTATTGCATC TCGTTGTACTTGCCATTGTAGCACGTGTGTAGCCCTAGACATAAGGGGCATGATGATTTGACGTC ATCCCCACCTTCCTCCCGGTTAACCCGGGCAGTCTCGCTAGAGTGCTCAACTAAATGGTAGCAAC TAACAATAAGGGTTGCGCTCGTTGCGGGACTTAACCCAACATCTCACGACACGAGCTGACGACA ACCATGCACCACCTGTCATCCTGTCCCCGAAGGGACTTCCTCGATTAAGAGTAATGCAGGAGATG TCAAGTCTAGGTAAGGTTCTTCGCGTTGCTTCGAATTAAACCACATGCTCCGCTGCTTGTGCGGG CCCCCGTCAATTCCTTTGAGTTTTAATCTTGCGACCGTACTCCCCAGGCGGGATACTTAATGTGTT AACGGCGGCACGGAAGGAGTTGATACCTCCCACACCTAGTATCCATCGTTTACGGCGTGGACTA CCAGGGTATCTAATCCTGTTTGCTCCCCACGCTTTCGAGCCTCAGCGTCAGTTACAGTCCAGAGA GTCGCCTTCGCCACTGGTGTTCTTCCTAATCTCTACGCATTTCACCGCTACACTAGGAATTCCACTC TCCTCTCCTGCACTCTAGACTTCCAGTTTGAAATGCAGCCCCAGGTTGAGCCCGGGTATTTCACA TCTCACTTAAAAGTCCGCCTACGCTCCCTTTACGCCCAGTAAATCCGGACAACGCTCGCCACCTAC GTATTACCGCGGCTGCTGGCACGTAGTTAGCCGTGGCTTCCTCCTCAGGTACCGTCATTATCGTC TCCCCCATTGTGCAATATTCCCCACTGCTGCCTCCCGTAGGAGTCTGGGCCGTGTCTCAGTCCCAA TGTGGCCGATCACCCTCTCAGGTCGGCTACGCATCGTCGCCTTGGTGAGCCGTTACCTCACCAAC TAGCTAATGCGCCGCGGGCCCATCTTGTAGCGGATTACTCCTTTAATTGCTGCTCCATGCGAAGC TGCAATGTTATGCGGTATTAATCTCCCTTTCGGGAGGCTATTCCCCTCTACAAGGCAGGTTGCCCA CGTGTTACTCACCCGTCCGCCGCTAGGTTTGTTTCCGAAGAAACTCCC

>5Uni25BM, Romboutsia lituseburensis gene for 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence

>13Uni82BM, Lactococcus garvieae 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

>14Uni46BM, Clostridium sordelii 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

GGTTAGCTAACCGGCTTCGGGCGCCCCCAACTCCCATGGTGTGACGGGCGGTGTGTACAAGACC CGGGAACGCATTCACCGCAGCATTCTGATCTGCGATTACTAGTAACTCCAGCTTCATGTAGGCGA GTTTCAGCCTACAATCCGAACTGAGAATGGCTTTAAGGGATTAGCTCCACCTCACGGCTTGGCAA CCCTCTGTACCACCCATTGTAGCACGTGTGTGTGGCCCTAAGCATAAGGGGCATGATGATTTGACGT CATCCCCACCTTCCTCGAGTTATCCTCGGCAGTCCCTCTAGAGTGCCCAACTTAATGCTGGCAAC TAAAGGCAAGGGTTGCGCTCGTTGCGGGGACTTAACCCAACATCTCACGACACGAGCTGACGACA ACCATGCACCACCTGTCACCACTGTCCCCCGAAGGGAAATCTCCCGATTAGGGAGAGGTCAGTGGG ATGTCAAGCTTAGGTAAGGTTCTTCGCGTTGCTTCGAATTAAACCACATGCTCCGCTACTTGTGCG GGTCCCCGTCAATTCCTTTGAGTTTCACTCTTGCGAGCGTACTTCCCAGGCGGAGTACTTAATGCG TTAGCTGCGGCACCGAGGGGGGGTAACCCCCGACACCTAGTACTCATCGTTTACGGCGTGGACTA CCAGGGTATCTAATCCTGTTTGCTCCCCACGCTTTCGTGCCTCAGCGTCAGTTACAGTCCAGAGA GCCGCCTTCGCTACTGGTGTTCCTCCTAATATCTACGCATTTCACCGCTACACTAGGAATTCCACT CTCCTCTCCTGCACTCAAGTCCTACAGTTCCAAAAGCTTACTACGGTTGAGCCGTAGCCTTTCACT TCTGGCTTGAAAGACCGCCTACGCACCCTTTACGCCCAGTAATTCCGGATAACGCTAGCCCCCTA CGTATTACCGCGGCTGCTGGCACGTAGTTAGCCGGGGGCTTCCTCCAAGTACCGTCATTATCTTC CTTGAGGACAGAGCTTTACGACCCGAAGGCCTTCATCGCTCACGCGGCGTTGCTGCATCAGGCTT TCGCCCATTGTGCAATATTCCCCACTGCTGCCTCCCGTAGGAGTTTGGACCGTGTCTCAGTTCCAA AGCTAATCAGACGCGGGTCCATCCTGTACCGCCGGAGCTTTGATACAAAAGCCATGCGACTCTCA TATGTTATCCCGTATTAGCATACCTTTCGGTATGTTATCCGTGTGTACAGGGCAGGTTACCCACGC GTTACTCACCCGTCCGCCGCTCACCCCGAAGGGTTCGCTCGACTGCA

>21Uni45BM, Lactococcus garvieae 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

GCGGTTAGGCAACCTACTTTGGGTACTCCCAACTTCCGTGGTGTGACGGGCGGTGTGTACAAGG CCCGGGAACGTATTCACCGCGGCGTGCTGATCCGCGATTACTAGCGATTCCGACTTCATGCAGGC GAGTTGCAGCCTCCAATCCGAACTGAGAATGGTTTTAAGAGATTAGCGCACCCTCGCGGGTTGG CGACTCGTTGTACCATCCATTGTAGCACGTGTGTAGCCCAGGTCATAAGGGGCATGATGATTTGA CGTCATCCCCACCTTCCTCCGGTTTATCACCGGCAGTCTCACTAGAGTGCCCAACTTAATGATGGC AACTAGTAATAAGGGTTGCGCTCGTTGCGGGGACTTAACCCAACATCTCACGACACGAGCTGACG ACAACCATGCACCACCTGTATCCCGTGTCCCGAAGGAACTCCTTATCTCTAAGGATAGCACGAGT ATGTCAAGACCTGGTAAGGTTCTTCGCGTTGCTTCGCAATTAAACCACATGCTCCACCGCTTGTGC

#### >2\_Uni\_23N, Vagococcus fessus 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence

CCGGAAACTTTTTCACCGCGCCGTCTGATCCCCGATTTACAACGAATTCCGATTTCATGTAGGCAA TTTGCAGCCAAAAACCCGAACTGAAAAAACTTTAAAAAAATATCTTGGCCTCCCGAGGTTGCGAC TCCTTGTACCTTCCATTGGGACACGTGTGTAGCCCAGGGCATAAGGGGCATGATGATGATGGCGAC CTCCCCACCTTCCTCCGGGTTATCACCGGCAGTCTCCCTAGAGTGACCAACTTAATGATGGCAACT AACAATAAGGGTTGCGCTCGTTGGGGGGAATTAACCCAACATCTCACGAAACGAGCTGACGACCA ACCATGCACCACCTGTTTCCTTTGTCCCGAAGGGAAACTTCTCTTTCAGGATGGTTCAAGGATGTC AAGACCTGGTAAGGGTCTTCCCGTTGCTTCCAATTAAACCACATGCTCCACCGCTTGTGCGGGGC CCCGTCGAATTCCTTTGAATTTCAACCTTGCTGTCCTAGTCCCCCAGGGGGAATGCTTAATGCCTTC ACTGATG

>5\_Un\_57N, Staphylococcus saprophyticus 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

GCACAGTTAATTACACATTTTTTCTTCCCTAATAACAGAGTTTTGAGATGCCGAACCCTTTCATCAC TCGCGGGGCGGTGCTCTGTCAGGCTTTTGCCCATCCCGGAAGATTCCCTACTGCCCCCTCCCGTA G

>7\_Un-66N, Macrococcus caseolyticus 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

GATCCGAGGGCCTCACTAAACCATCCAATCGGTAGTAGCGACGGGCGGTGTGTACAAAGGGCA GGGACTTAATCAACGCAAGCTTATGACCCGCACTTACTGGGAATTCCTCGTTCATGGGGAATAAT TGCAATCCCCGATCCCCATCACGAATGGGGTTCAACGGGTTACCCGCGCCTGCCGGCGTAGGGT AGGCACACGCTGAGCCAGGATCAAACTCTTGACGTCATCCCCACCTTCCTCCGGTTTGTCACCGG CAGTCTCTCTAGAGTGCCCAACCTAATGATGGCAACTAAAGATAAGGGTTGCGCTCGTTGCGGG ACTTAACCCAACATCTCACGACACGAGCTGACGACAACCATGCACCACCTGTCACTTTGTCCCCCG AAGGGGAAAGCTCTATCTCTAGAGTTGTCAAAGGATGTCAAGATTTGGTAAGGTTCTTCGCGTTG CTTCGAATTAAACCACATGCTCCACCGCTTGTGCGGGTCCCCGTCAATTCCTTTGAGTTTCAGTCT TGCGACCGTACTCCCCAGGCGGAGTGCTTAATGCGTTAGCTGCAGCACTGAGGGGCGGGAAACCC CCCAACACTTAGCACTCATCGTTTACGGCGTGGACTACCAGGGTATCTAATCCTGTTTGATCCCCA CGCTTTCGCACCTCAGCGTCAGTTACAGACCAGAGAGCCGCCTTCGCCACTGGTGTTCCTCCATA TCTCTGCGCATTTCACCGCTACACATGGAATTCCACTCTCCTCTTCTGCACTCAAGTCTCCCAGTTT CCAATGACCCTCCCCGGTTGAGCCGGGGGGCTTTCACATCAGACCTTAAGAGACCGCCTACGCGCG CTTTACGCCCAATAATTCCGGATAACGCTTGCCACCTACGTATTACCGCGGCTGCTGGCACGTAG TTAGCCGTGGCTTTCTGGTAAGGTACCGTCAAGGTACGTTCAGTTACTAACGTACTTGTTCTTCCC TCCATTGCGGAAGATTCCCTACTGCTGCCTCCCGTAGGAGTCTGGGCCGTGTCTCAGTCCA

>9\_Un\_85N, Macrococcus caseolyticus 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence

>10\_Uni\_87N, Proteus vulgaris 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

TCTTTTGCAACCCACTCCCATGGTGTGACGGGCGGTGTGTACAAGGCCCGGGAACGTATTCACC GTAGCATTCTGATCTACGATTACTAGCGATTCCGACTTCATGGAGTCGAGTTGCAGACTCCAATC CGGACTACGACAGACTTTATGAGTTCCGCTTGCTCTCGCGAGGTCGCTTCTCTTTGTATCTGCCAT TGTAGCACGTGTGTAGCCCTACTCGTAAGGGCCATGATGACTTGACGTCATCCCCACCTTCCTCC

>12\_Uni\_91N, Lactococcus garvieae 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

TGGGTACTCCCAACTTCCGTGGTGTGACGGGCGGTGTGTACAAGGCCCGGGAACGTATTCACCG CGGCGTGCTGATCCGCGATTACTAGCGATTCCGACTTCATGCAGCCGAGTTGCAGCCTGCAATCC TGTAGCACGTGTGTAGCCCAGGTCATAAGGGGCATGATGATTTGACGTCATCCCCACCTTCCTCC GGTTTATCACCGGCAGTCTCACTAGAGTGCCCAACTTAATGATGGCAACTAGTAATAAGGGTTGC TCCCGTGTCCCGAAGGAACTCCTTATCTCTAAGGATAGCACGAGTATGTCAAGACCTGGTAAGGT TCTTCGCGTTGCTTCGAATTAAACCACATGCTCCACCGCTTGTGCGGGCCCCCGTCAATTCCTTTG AGTTTCAACCTTGCGGTCGTACTCCCCAGGCGGAGTGCTTAATGCGTTAGCTGCGCTACAGAGAA CTTATAGCTCCCTACAGCTAGCACTCATCGTTTACGGCGTGGACTACCAGGGTATCTAATCCTGTT TGCTCCCCACGCTTTCGAGCCTCAGTGTCAGTTACAGGCCAGAGAGCCGCTTTCGCCTCCGGTGT TCCTCCATATATCTACGCATTTCACCGCTACACATGGAATTCCACTCTCCTCCTGCACTCAAGTC TCCCAGTTTCCAATGCACAATGGTTGAGCCACTGCCTTTTACATCAGACTTAAGAAACCACCTG CGCTCGCTTTACGCCCAATAAATCCGGACAACGCTTGGGACCTACGTATTACCGCGGCTGCTGGC ACGTAGTTAGCCGTCCCTTTCTGGTTAGATACCGTCACTTAAGTAATTTTCCACTCTACTTAACGTT GTTGCCCCCATTGCCGAAGATTCCCTACTGCTGCCTCCCGTAGGAGTCTGGGCCGTGTCTCAGTC CCAGTGTGGCCGATCACCCTCTCAGGTCGGCTATGTATCATCGCCTTGGTAGTCCTTTACACTACC AACTAGCTAATACAACGCGGGATCATCAAGTAGTGAAGCAATTGCTTCTTTCAAATAAGAATCAT GCGATTCTCATTGTTATGCGGTAT

>15\_Un\_96N, Lactococcus garvieae 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

TGAGAAGACTGCCGAAGTTGAGATTCTTAAGGAACCTGAGTCGGTGATCGGTCACCATGGGACT GAGACACGGCCCAGACTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGTAGGGAATCTTCGGCAATGGGGGCAACCC TGACCGAGCAACGCCGCGTGAGTGAAGAAGGTTTTCGGATCGTAAAACTCTGTTGTTAGAGAAG AACGTTAAGTAGAGTGGAAAATTACTTAAGTGACGGTATCTAACCAGAAAGGGACGGCTAACTA CGTGCCAGCAGCCGCGGTAATACGTAGGTCCCAAGCGTTGTCCGGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGCG AGCGCAGGTGGTTTCTTAAGTCTGATGTAAAAGGCAGTGGCTCAACCATTGTGTGCATTGGAAA CTGGGAGACTTGAGTGCAGGAGAGGAGAGAGTGGAATTCCATGTGTAGCGGAGAAATGCGTAGAT ATATGGAGGAACACCGGATGCGAAAGCGGCTCTCTGGCCTGTAACTGACACTGAGGCTCGAAA GCGTGGGGGGGCAAACAGGATTAGATACCCTGGTAGTCCACGCCGTACACGATGAGTGCTAGCTG TAGGGAGCTATAAGTTCTCTGTAGCGCAGCTAACGCATTAAGCACTCCGCCTGGGGACTACGAC CGCAAGGTTGAAACTCAGAGGAATTGACGGGCGCCCGCACAAGCGGAGGAGCATGTGGTGTAA TTCGAAGCGACGCGAAGAATCTTACCAGGTCTTGACATACTCGTGCTACCCTTAGAGATAAGGA GTTCCTTCGGGACACGAGATACAGGTGCTGCATGGTTGTCATCAACTCATGTCGTGAGATGTGG GATAACTCCCGCAACGAGCGCACCCTTATTACTAGTGCCATCATAACGTGGGCACTCTAGGAGGA CCGCCGGTGATAACCGGAAGAGGTGGGGGATGACGTAAATCTCAGCCCCTTAGGACCGGGCAAC CCCTGCTCCATGGAGGGACACCA

>16\_Uni\_97N, Weissella ceti 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

>4\_Un\_47N, Weissella ceti strain 1119-1A-09 16S ribosomal RNA, partial sequence

CTGTCACATTGTCCCCGAAGGGAAAGCGCCATTTCTGGAGTGATCAAAGGATGTCAAGACCTGG TAAGGTTCTTCGCGTTGCTTCGAATTAAACCACATGCTGCACCGCTTGTGCGGCTCCCCGTCAATT CCTTTGAGTATCAACCTTGCGGCCATACTCCCCAGGCGGAGTGCTGAATGCGTTAGCTGCTACAC TTAGGGGCGGAAACCCCCAAACATCTAGCACTCATCGTTTACGGTGTGGACTACCAGGGTATCTA ATCCTGTTTGCTACCCACACTTTCGAGCCTCAACGTCAGGTATCCAGTGCAGAGAGCCGCCTTCGCCA CTGGTGTTCCTCCATATATCTACGCATTTCACCGCTACACATGGAATTCCACTCTCCTCTACTGCAC TCAAGTTATCCAGGTTTCCACAGCACTTCCACAGTTAAACCTGTGGGCTTTCACTTTCAGACCTTAAA TAACCGTCTGCGCTCGCTTTACGCCCAATAAATCCAGGAATACCGTTGGCAACATACGTATTACC GCGGGCTGCTGGCACGTATTTAGCCGTTCCTTTTCTGGTAAGAATACCCGTCAGACACTGAGCAG GTAACTATCAA

>11\_Un\_89N, Proteus vulgaris strain FDAARGOS\_556 chromosome, complete genome

TCATCCCCACCTTCCTCCGGTTTATCACCGGCAGTCTCCTTTGAGTTCCCGCCATTACGCGCTGGC AACAAAGGATAAGGGTTGCGCTCGTTGCGGGACTTAACCCAACATTTCACAACACGAGCTGACG ACAGCCATGCAGCACCTGTCTCATCGTTCCCGAAGGCACTCCTCTATCTCTAAAGGATTCGCTGG ATGTCAAGAGTAGGTAAGGTTCTTCGCGTTGCATCGAATTAAACCACATGCTCCACCGCTTGTGC GGGCCCCCGTCAATTCATTTGAGTTTTAACCTTGCGGCCGTACTCCCCAGGCGGTCGATTTAACG CGTTAGCTCCAGAAGCCACGGCTCAAGACCACAACCTCTAAATCGACATCGTTTACAGCGTGGAC TACCAGGGTATCTAATCCTGTTTGCTCCCCACGCTTTCGCACCTGAGCGTCAGTCTTTGTCCAGGG GGCCGCCTTCGCCACCGGTATTCCTCCACATCTCTACGCATTTCACCGCTACACGTGGAATTCTAC CCCCCTCTACAAGACTCTAGCCAACCAGTTTCAGATGCATTTCCCAAGTTAAGCTCGGGGCTTTCA CATCTGACTTAATTGACCGCCTGCGTGCGCTTTACGCCCAGTAATTCCGATTAACGCTTGCACCCT CCGTATTACCGCGGCTGCTGCGCACGGAGTTAGCCGGTGCTTTTTCTGCGGGGTAACGTCAATTGAT AAAGGTATTAACCTTATCACCCTTCCTCCCCGCTGAAAGTACTTTACAACCATAAGGCCTTTCTCA TACACGCGGCATGGGTGCATCAGGCTTGCGCCCATTGTGCAATTTCCCCACTGCCGCCTCCCGT AGGA

>17\_Uni\_98N, *Macrococcus* sp. 'vitulae' strain DPC7159 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

#### >18\_Un\_99N, Lactococcus lactis 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

>2\_ML-11N\_Assembly; Lactococcus garvieae 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

CATGCAGTCGAGCGATGATTGAAGATAGCTTGCTATTTTCATGAAGAGCGGCGAACGGGTGAGT AACAATGAGAATCGCATGATTCTTATTTGAAAGAAGCAATTGCTTCACTACTTGATGATCCCGCG TTGTATTAGCTAGTTGGTAGTGTAAAGGACTACCAAGGCGATGATACATAGCCGACCTGAGAGG GTGATCGGCCACACTGGGACTGAGACACGGCCCAGACTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGTAGGGAAT AAAACTCTGTTGTTAGAGAAGAACGTTAAGTAGAGTGGAAAATTACTTAAGTGACGGTATCTAA CCAGAAAGGGACGGCTAACTACGTGCCAGCAGCCGCGGTAATACGTAGGTCCCAAGCGTTGTCC GGATTTATTGGGCGTAAAGCGAGCGCAGGTGGTTTCTTAAGTCTGATGTAAAAGGCAGTGGCTC AACCATTGTGTGCATTGGAAACTGGGAGACTTGAGTGCAGGAGAGGAGAGTGGAATTCCATGT GTAGCGGTGAAATGCGTAGATATATGGAGGAACACCGGAGGCGAAAGCGGCTCTCTGGCCTGT AACTGACACTGAGGCTCGAAAGCGTGGGGGGGGCAAACAGGATTAGATACCCTGGTAGTCCACGC CGTAAACGATGAGTGCTAGCTGTAGGGAGCTATAAGTTCTCTGTAGCGCAGCTAACGCATTAAG CACTCCGCCTGGGGGGGTACGACCGCAAGGTTGAAACTCAAAGGAATTGACGGGGGCCCGCACA AGCGGTGGAGCATGTGGTTTAATTCGAAGCAACGCGAAGAACCTTACCAGGTCTTGACATACTC GTGCTATCCTTAGAGATAAGGAGTTCCTTCGGGACACGGGATACAGGTGGTGCATGGTTGTCGT CAGCTCGTGTCGTGAGATGTTGGGTTAAGTCCCGCAACGAGCGCAACCCTTATTACTAGTTGCCA TCATTAAGTTGGGCACTCTAGTGAGACTGCCGGTGATAAACCGGAGGAAGGTGGGGGATGACGT CAACCCGCGAGGGTGCGCTAATCTCTTAAAACCATTCTCAGTTCGGATTGCAGGCTGCAACTCGC CTGCATGAAGTCGGAATCGCTAGTAATCGCGGATCAGCACGCCGCGGTGAATACGTTCCCGGGC

CTTGTACACCGCCCGTCACACCACGGAAGTTGGGAGTACCCAAAGTAGGTTGCCTAACCGCA A

>6\_ML-N88, Aeromonas caviae 16S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

TGCAGTCGAGCGGCAGCGGGAAAGTAGCTTGCTACTTTTGCCGGCGAGCGGCGGACGGGTGAG TAATGCCTGGGAATTTGCCCTGTCGAGGGGGGATAACAGTTGGAAACGACTGCTAATACCGCATA CGCCCTACGGGGGGAAAGCAGGGGACCTTCGGGCCTTGCGCTATTGGATGTGCCCATGTGGGATT AGCTAGTTGGTGAGGTAATGGCTCACCAAGGCGACGATCCCTAGCTGGTCTGAGAGGATGATCA GCCACACTGGAACTGACACACGGTCCACACTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGTGGGGAATATTGCACA ATGGGGGAAACCCTGATGCAGCCATGCCGCGTGTGTGAAGAAGGCCTTCGGGTTGTAAAGCACT ACCGGCTAACTCCGTGCCAACACCCGCGGTAATACGGAGGGTGCAAGCGTTAATCCGAATTACT GGGCGTAAAGCGCACGCATGCGGTTGGATAAGTTATGTGAAAGCCCCGGGCTCAACCTGGG AAATGTGTATAGATCTGGAAGAATACCGGTGGCGAACGCGCCCCTGTGTACACAGACTGACACT CAGGTGCGAAAGCGTGTGGAGCACACACGATTATATACACTGGGAGTCCACGCCCTAACTATAT CAATATGGAGGCTGTGTCCTTGAAACGTGTCTTCCAGAGCTAAGCTTTAAATCTACCGGCTGGGG AATACGGCCGCAAGGTTAAACTCAAATGAATTGACGGGGGCACCCACAAGCGGTGGAACATGTG GTTTTATTCGATGCACGCGAAAAACCTACCTGGCTTGACTGTCTGGAATCTTTAGAAATACGGTA GTGCCTTCGGAATCAGAAAACAGGGCTGCATGGGTGTCCTCACCTCCGGTCCGGAGAATTTGGG TTAATTCCGAAGGAGGCCACCCTTTTCTTTTTGCCACACGTAAGGGGGGAAATCAAGGGAAACT TGCTCAATGGGCCTTAAAAAGGGTCCACCTACGGAAGGGAGCC



Appendix 8: Supplementary Figure showing normalized curves of pig samples using the mitochondrial markers CO1, Cyt b and 16S rRNA.

The melting temperature of the DNA segments (markers) being amplified is the temperature at which 50% of the double stranded DNA is changed to single stranded DNA, with pig samples having a wide range in melting temperature.

turn	itin	D
	0	

# **Digital Receipt**

This receipt acknowledges that Turnitin received your paper. Below you will find the receipt information regarding your submission.

The first page of your submissions is displayed below.

Submission author:	Jane Njaramba
Assignment title:	MOLECULAR IDENTIFICATION OF
Submission title:	MOLECULAR IDENTIFICATION OF
File name:	Defended_Corrected Thesis Jane
File size:	4.97M
Page count:	130
Word count:	23,362
Character count:	159,970
Submission date:	21-Aug-2020 06:04PM (UTC+0300)
Submission ID:	1372270541

MOLECULAR IDENTIFICATION OF VERTEBRATE SOURCES AND POTENTIAL ZOONOTIC PATHOGENS IN THE MEAT VALUE CHAIN FROM SELECTED VENDORS IN NAIROBI. KENYA.

JANE KAGURE NJARAMBA 156/9506/2017 Thesh submitted in partial fulfilment for the award of the degree of Muster of Science in Genetics School of Biological Sciences. College of Hiological and Physical Sciences UNIVERSITY OF NATIROBI

August, 2020

1209th 2110 2020

O. Box 30197 NAIROBI 585 10/2020 3

Supervisor 20

Copyright 2020 Turnitin. All rights reserved.

## MOLECULAR IDENTIFICATION OF VERTEBRATE SOURCES AND POTENTIAL ZOONOTIC PATHOGENS IN THE MEAT VALUE CHAIN FROM SELECTED VENDORS IN NAIROBI, KENYA.

ORIGIN	ALITY REPORT			
1 SIMIL	3% ARITY INDEX	10% INTERNET SOURCES	8% PUBLICATIONS	<b>3</b> % STUDENT PAPERS
PRIMAR	RY SOURCES		an an la stand and an	
1	www.bio	rxiv.org		1%
2	link.sprin	ger.com		<1%
3	hdl.hand	le.net		<1%
4	WWW.res	earchsquare.com	1	<1%
5	worldwid	escience.org		<1%
6	mafiadoc Internet Source	c.com		<1%
7	livreposit	ory.liverpool.ac.u	k	<1%
8	docplaye Internet Source	r.net	12/10/2020 5	<1% pompe